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COMMON CRITERIA CERTIFICATION
BY CYBERSECURITY 

Extol Corporation Sdn Bhd (Formerly known as Extol Corporation (M) Sdn Bhd) has received the Common Criteria (CC) 
certification for its Two Factors Authentication (2FA) application using mobile devices – ePassport Suite version 3.0. This 
award was presented by En. Wan Shafiuddin Bin Zainudin, New Scheme Manager of CyberSecurity to Mr. Calvert Wong, 
Executive Director of Extol Corporation Sdn Bhd (Formerly known as Extol Corporation (M) Sdn Bhd) on 17th July 2014.

The Common Criteria is an internationally recognized ISO standard (ISO/IEC15408) used by governments and other 
organizations to assess the security and assurance of technology products. Common Criteria certification assures that 
certified devices are independently evaluated and verified to meet the fundamental security requirements specified in 
the Protection Profile.

Achieving EAL2 certification marks the completion of an intensive effort of which AppAsia’s ePassport was examined, 
tested and certified. This solution is proven to be a trusted platform for modern IT infrastructure, which is currently use 
by many huge financial institutions and government agencies. “With the EAL2 evaluation, Commercial and government 
agencies with environments that demand proven security assurance can trust AppAsia Berhad (Formerly known as Extol 
MSC Berhad) to handle sensitive information affordably, with an internationally agreed-upon and widely adopted standard 
for security evaluation” said Calvert Wong, Executive Director of AppAsia Berhad (Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad).

As AppAsia moves forward with continued commitment to solve customers’ business challenges and also to facilitate 
the prompt completion of Common Criteria certification, the company is expanding its portfolio and expertise towards 
mobile technologies.
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CORPORATE
STRUCTURE

AppAsia
International

Sdn Bhd

AppAsia
Mall

Sdn Bhd

AppAsia
Tech

Sdn Bhd
(FKA Extol IP Sdn Bhd)

AppAsia
Studio

Sdn Bhd
(FKA Extol Apps

Sdn Bhd)

Extol
Corporation

Sdn Bhd
(FKA Extol Corporation

(M) Sdn Bhd)

Extol
Ventures
Sdn Bhd

Extol
International

Sdn Bhd
(FKA Innodium Sdn Bhd)

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%



7 www.AppAsia.com ◄ Annual Report 2014

DIRECTOR’S
PROFILE

Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud bin Mohammad Khalil 
41 Years of Age, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud bin Mohammad Khalil, Malaysian, aged 41, was appointed to the Board on 24 July 
2014. He is involved in the reforestation business as well as the construction and manufacturing sectors and is also 
well versed in the timber industry.

Datuk Wira Rahadian is the chairman of Permaju Industries Berhad. He also sits on the Board of Sanbumi Holdings 
Berhad, KYM Holdings Berhad and Magna Prima Berhad.

Datuk Wira Rahadian also a Chairman of the Audit Committee of AppAsia.

He has no relation with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, no conflict of interest with the Company 
interest other than disclosed appears on pages 100 to 105  this Annual Report and has not committed any offences 
within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences, if any.

Toh Hong Chye
39 Years of Age, Malaysian
Executive Director

Mr Toh Hong Chye, Malaysian, aged 39, was appointed to the Board on 24 July 2014. Mr. Toh has a qualification from 
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) in 2000, and has a Masters of Business Administration in 
Finance from the International Islamic University in Malaysia in 2006. He is a Chartered Accountant and a member of 
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA).

He is a founder of Messrs H.C Toh & Co, involving in company secretary, accounting and business advisory of companies 
from various industries. His experience covers audit and assurance engagements, corporate reporting and compliance, 
taxation and wide ranging overseas exposures. He also sits on the Board of Sersol Berhad. He also sits on the boards 
of several private limited companies.

He is a chairman of Share Issuance Scheme Option Committee of AppAsia.

He has no relation with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, no conflict of interest with the Company 
interest other than disclosed appears on pages 100 to 105  this Annual Report and has not committed any offences 
within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences, if any.
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DIRECTOR’S PROFILE
[Continued]

Wong Ngai Peow – Executive Director
39 Years of Age, Malaysian
Executive Director

Mr Wong Ngai Peow, Malaysian, aged 39, was appointed to the Board on 28 May 2014. He graduated from University 
of Malaya with an honorable degree in Information Technology and Business Management. 

He has more than 15 years of in-depth professional experience in Information Technology industry. Throughout his 
many years of specialised IT industry experiences, he has successfully implemented more than 100 projects for many 
multinationals, financial institutions, public listed companies and government agencies in the region. His portfolios 
include the successful implementation of online trading system, e-insurance systems, bonds information system, B2C2C 
e-commerce portal, mobile applications, payment gateway system, security solutions, business process integration, 
social networking system and cloud solution. He is currently leading a team in R&D and commercializing of mobile 
application and gamification system for this growing industry.

He is a member of Share Issuance Scheme Option Committee of AppAsia.

He has no relation with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, no conflict of interest with the Company 
interest other than disclosed appears on pages 100 to 105 this Annual Report and has not committed any offences 
within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences, if any.

Dato’ Lai Wen Shian
36 Years of Age, Malaysian
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Lai Wen Shian, Malaysian, aged 36, was appointed to the Board on 28 May 2014. 
 
Dato’ Lai started his own business since 2010. He is a successful businessman and investor in various industries in this 
region. He obtained Datoship on 14 December 2012.

 He does not hold directorships in any other public companies. He has no relation with any director and/or major shareholder 
of the Company, no conflict of interest with the Company interest other than disclosed appears on pages 100 to 105 
this Annual Report and has not committed any offences within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences, if any.
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Low Kim Leng
52 Years of Age, Malaysian
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Low Kim Leng, Malaysian, aged 52, was appointed to the Board on 28 May 2014. He graduated from Manchester 
Metropolitan University (UK) with the degree of Bachelor of Arts (Hons) (Law) in 1983 and as an Utter Barrister of the 
Honourable Society of Gray’s Inn, he was admitted to the English Bar in 1984. He was called to the Malaysian Bar and 
was admitted as an advocate and solicitor of the High Court of Malaya in 1985. 

He practises law under the name and style of Messrs Ringo Low & Associates of which he is now a principal partner. 
He is a registered Trade Mark Agent. He has been appointed a Notary Public to carry out notarial functions since 2004. 
He is also a legal advisor to various national organisations. He also sits on the Board of Sersol Berhad.

Mr Low also a Chairman of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of AppAsia.

He has no relation with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, no conflict of interest with the Company 
interest other than disclosed appears on pages 100 to 105  this Annual Report and has not committed any offences 
within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences, if any.

Tan Fie Jen
49 Years of Age, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Tan Fie Jen, Malaysian, aged 49, was appointed to the Board on 24 July 2014. He graduated from the Tunku Abdul 
Rahman College with a Diploma in Building in 1989. 

He began his career as Sales Executive in various companies such as Hunter Products (M) Sdn Bhd, Supermax Enterprise 
and Lea Tat (M) Sdn Bhd. He joined the Group of the Company as Sales Executive in 1992 and has been promoted as 
Assistant General Manager in 2001. He has 22 years of experience in the industrial coating industries. He was promoted 
to Chief Operating Officer in Multi Square Sdn Bhd in 2006 and currently, he is working in Sersol as Marketing Director 
since 2008. He also sits on the Boards of Sersol Berhad.

He is a member of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of AppAsia.

He has no relation with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, no conflict of interest with the Company 
interest other than disclosed appears on pages 100 to 105 this Annual Report and has not committed any offences 
within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences, if any.

DIRECTOR’S PROFILE
[Continued]
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Ng Kok Wah
35 Years of Age, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr Ng Kok Wah, Malaysian, aged 35, was appointed to the Board on 24 July 2014. He is an Accountant by profession, 
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA), United Kingdom and a member of 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA). 

He started his career with a small accounting film since year 1988 followed by an international medium accounting firm, 
Morison Anuarul Azizan Chew & Co. Handling various audit and non-audit assignments for both listed and non-listed 
companies involved in a wide range of business activities include financial institutions like bank and insurance company. 
He also sits on the Board of Aturmaju Resources Berhad and Malaysia Pacific Corporation Berhad.

He is member of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of AppAsia.

He has no relation with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, no conflict of interest with the Company 
interest other than disclosed appears on pages 100 to 105  this Annual Report and has not committed any offences 
within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences, if any.

DIRECTOR’S PROFILE
[Continued]
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of AppAsia Berhad (Formerly known as Extol 
MSC Behad)(“AppAsia”), it is with great pleasure that I present AppAsia’s Annual 
Report and Financial Statements for the financial period ended 31 December 
2014 (“FPE2014”).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

On 26 August 2014, AppAsia had announced the change in financial year ended (“FYE”) from 30 September 2014 to 
31 December 2014.

For the FPE2014, AppAsia registered a revenue of RM14.927 million as compared to revenue of RM13.509 million in 
the previous year for the cumulative twelve (12) months period from 1 October 2012 to 30 Septerber 2013 (“FY2013”) 
period from 1 October 2012 to 30 September 2013 (“FY 2013”). Loss before taxation increased to RM13.056 million 
from RM1.417 million in FY2013. The main reasons of the increase in loss before taxation are due to the following 
adjustments made in Third Quarter ended 30 June 2014:

(i) Inventories were written off because they could not be accounted for;
(ii) RM0.34 million of the value of the Property, Plant and Equipment (“PPE”) were written off due to no future economic 

benefits to be expected;
(iii) Full impairment of the goodwill amounting to RM3.51 million as the management could not foresee any major 

business development which may help turn around the financial position in the near future; and
(iv) Written off the entire product development expenditure due to the products having no future economic benefits 

to be expected.

MANAGED SECURITY SERVICES (“MSS”) AND RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT (“R&D”)

AppAsia is principally involved in the R&D of ICT security systems which consisted of MSS and the provision of professional 
services which are in relation to ICT.  

By leveraging on the existing technologies and expertise in ICT security, AppAsia will fund the R&D for the existing 
applications to expand our customer base and also the mobile applications to include smartphone users in view of its 
growing size:

FUTURE PROSPECTS

AppAsia prospects in our existing IT security business is expected to be buoyed by the positive outlook in the IT security 
market globally and in Malaysia, where the use of the internet as a standard medium of communication has given rise 
to increasing demand for secure IT infrastructure.

Furthermore, AppAsia’s intention to expand our current enterprise security solutions to include mobile content and 
application solutions is also viewed favourably as it demonstrates potential for our Group to benefit from opportunities 
arising from the fast growing mobile content and applications market.

AppAsia had set up Talents Club in January 2015 as we believe with the proper investment on young minds via our 
talents programme, whereby some of the brightest minds from our universities are brought to AppAsia to work on an 
adhoc basis, we are setting the right platform that will help propel AppAsia to the next level.

That being said, AppAsia will continue to focus on the brick and mortar business in the internet atmoshpere, providing 
IT security for our online customers as well.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
[Continued]

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group striving to be ethical, efficient and effective in everything do, provide excellent products and services to our 
customers, to enhance shareholders’ value. The Group also to provide a conductive business environment for our 
employees to maximise their individual potential, contribute to our community and enhance the quality of our society in 
supporting socio-economic development.
 
The Group continued to actively develop and recognize the importance of Corporate Social Responsibility initiatives 
in various areas of needs based on its strong belief in making a meaningful change and positive difference in the 
communities in which it operates.  

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our loyal customers for their support and also thank our business partners 
for their support and cooperation.

My sincere appreciation goes to my fellow colleagues on the Board and management team and staffs for their hard 
work and dedication in sustaining the growth of the Group. I believe we can achieve in many more successes together 
and continue to expand our Group further.

Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil
Chairman



13 www.AppAsia.com ◄ Annual Report 2014

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENTS

The Board is committed to ensure that a high standard of corporate governance is practised throughout the Company 
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) in discharging its responsibilities with integrity, transparency and professionalism, to 
protect and enhance shareholders’ value and the financial position of the Group. 

The Board recognises the importance of good corporate governance and fully supports the principles and best practices 
promulgated in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG”) to enhance business prosperity and maximize 
shareholders’ value. The Board will continuously evaluate the Group’s corporate governance practices and procedures, 
and where appropriate will adopt and implement the best practices as enshrined in MCCG to the best interest of the 
shareholders of the Company. 

Below is a statement and description in general on how the Group has applied the principles and complied with the 
best practice provisions as laid out in MCCG throughout the financial period ended 31 December 2014 pursuant to 
Rule 15.25 of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities (“Listing Requirements”).

A. DIRECTORS

1. Board Balance 

 The Board assumes responsibility for effective stewardship and control of the Group and its members have 
established terms of reference to assist in the discharge of their responsibilities.

 The Board consists of Seven (7) members, comprising an Independent Non-Executive Chairman, two (2) 
Executive Directors, two (2) Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors and two (2) Independent Non-
Executive Directors. The Company is in compliance with Rule 15.02 of the Listing Requirements whereby at 
least two (2) or one third (1/3) of its Board members are independent directors. The profile of each Director 
is presented separately in page 7 to 10 of the Annual Report 2014.

 The current composition of the Board provides an effective Board with a mix of industry specific knowledge, 
broad based business and commercial experience together with independent judgement on matters of 
strategy, operations, resources and business conduct.

 The Board has yet to identify a Senior Independent Non-Executive Director to whom concerns may be 
conveyed by shareholders and the general public. However, the Chairman of the Board encourages the 
active participation of each and every Board member in the decision making process.

 The Board has not set a gender diversity targets as of the reporting period as it is of the view the Board 
membership should be determined based on a candidate’s skills, experience and other qualities regardless 
of gender but will nevertheless considers appointing more directors of the female gender where suitable.

2. Board Responsibilities 

 The Board retains full and effective control of the Group and has developed corporate objectives and position 
descriptions including the limits to management’s responsibilities, which the management are aware and 
are responsible for meeting.

 The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved to itself for decision, which includes the overall Group 
strategy and direction, investment policy, major capital expenditures, consideration of significant financial 
matters and review of the financial and operating performance of the Group.

 The Board understands the principal risks of all aspects of the business that the Group is engaged in 
recognising that business decisions require the incurrence of risk. To achieve a proper balance between 
risks incurred and potential returns to shareholders, the Board ensures that there are in place systems that 
effectively monitor and manage these risks with a view to the long term viability of the Group.
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2. Board Responsibilities (Cont’d)

 The Company has a clear distinction and separation of roles between the Chairman and the Executive 
Directors, with clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman is primarily responsible in leading and guiding 
the Board, and also serves as the communication point between the Board and the Executive Directors 
whilst the Executive Directors and his management team is responsible for implementing the plans chartered 
out and the day to day management of the Group, with clear authority delegated by the Board.

 The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company play a key role in providing unbiased and 
independent views, advice and contributing their knowledge and experience toward the formulation of policies 
and in the decision making process. The Board structure ensures that no individual or group of individuals 
dominates the Board’s decision-making process. Although all the Directors have equal responsibility for 
the Company and the Group’s operations, the role of the Independent Directors are particularly important 
in ensuring that the strategies proposed by the Executive Directors are deliberated on and have taken into 
account the interest, not only of the Company, but also that of the shareholders, employees, customers, 
suppliers and the community.

 In discharging its fiduciary duties, the Board has delegated specific tasks to three (3) Board Committees 
namely the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. All the Board 
Committees have its own terms of reference and has the authority to act on behalf of the Board within the 
authority as lay out in the terms of reference and to report to the Board with the necessary recommendation.

 Code of Conduct and Ethics

 The Board is committed in maintaining a corporate culture which engenders ethical conduct. The Company 
is in the midst of preparing its Code of Conduct, which summarises what the Company must endeavour 
to do proactively in order to increase corporate value, and which describes the areas in daily activities that 
require caution in order to minimise any risks that may occur. The Board will undertake to develop the said 
Code of Conduct and upload the same on the Company’s website in due course.

3. Board Charter

 As part of governance process, the Board has formalised and adopted the Board Charter. This Board 
Charter sets out the composition and balance, roles and responsibilities, operation and processes of the 
Board and is to ensure that all Board members acting on behalf of the Company are aware of their duties 
and responsibilities as Board members.

 A copy of the Board Charter is available at the Company’s website.

4. Promote Sustainability

 The Board ensures that the Company’s strategies promote sustainability with attention given particularly 
to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) aspects of business which underpin sustainability. The 
Board understands that balancing ESG aspects with the interests of various stakeholders is essential to 
enhancing investor perception and public trust. Disclosures on corporate responsibility are presented under 
“Corporate Social Responsibility” of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS
[Continued]
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5. Supply of information

 Prior to the Board meetings, the Board papers comprising of due notice of issues to be discussed and 
supporting information and documentations were provided to the Board sufficiently in advance. The 
deliberations of the Board in terms of the issues discussed during the meetings and the Board’s conclusions 
in discharging its duties and responsibilities are recorded in the minutes of meetings. 

 The Board has access to all information within the Company as a full Board to enable them to discharge 
their duties and responsibilities and is supplied in a timely basis with information and reports on financial, 
regulatory and audit matters by way of Board papers for informed decision making and meaningful discharge 
of its duties.  

 To fulfill the responsibilities as set out above, all Directors have direct access to the advice and services 
of the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring the Board’s meeting procedures are adhered 
to and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The Board recognises that the Company 
Secretary is suitably qualified and capable of carrying out the duties required. The Board is satisfied with the 
service and support rendered by the Company Secretary in discharge of their functions.When necessary, 
Directors may whether as a full Board or in their individual capacity, seek independent professional advice, 
including the internal and external auditors, at the Company’s expense to enable the directors to discharge 
their duties with adequate knowledge on the matters being deliberated.

 Where applicable, the Board will establish a formal schedule of matters to clearly detail out matters that 
require the Board’s deliberation and approvals.

6. Board Meetings

 There were four (4) Board of Directors’ Meetings held during the financial period ended 31 December 2014. 
Details of the attendance of the Directors at the Board of Directors’ Meetings are as follow:-

Name of Director Attendance

(a) Datuk’ Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil (Appointed on 24 July 2014) 2/2

(b) Toh Hong Chye (Appointed on 24 July 2014) 2/2

(c) Wong Ngai Peow (Appointed on 28 May 2014) 2/2

(d) Dato’ Lai Wen Shian (Appointed on 28 May 2014) 2/2

(e) Low Kim Leng (Appointed on 28 May 2014) 2/2

(f) Tan Fie Jen (Appointed on 24 July 2014) 2/2

(g) Ng Kok Wah (Appointed on 24 July 2014) 2/2

(j) Dato’ Ahmad Bin Ismail (Removed on 28 May 2014) 2/2

(i) Mohd Badaruddin Bin Masodi (Not re-elected on 28 March 2014) 2/2

(j) Mohd Faidzal Bin Ahmad Mahidin  (Removed on 28 May 2014) 2/2

(k) Ismawadee Bin Ismail (Not re-elected on 28 March 2014) 2/2

(l) Ku Mun Fong (Resigned on 24 March 2014) 2/2

(m) Megat Mohd Hazim bin Megat Mohd Aminuddin (Appointed on 20 May 2014 
and subsequently removed on 28 May 2014)

0/0

 The Board is satisfied with the level of time commitment given by the Directors of the Company towards 
fulfilling their duties and responsibilities. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS
[Continued]



16 AppAsia Berhad ► www.AppAsia.com

7.  Directors’ Training 

 All Directors appointed to the Board have undergone the Mandatory Accreditation Program (“MAP”) 
prescribed by Bursa Securities. The Directors are encouraged to attend continuous education programmes/
seminars/conferences and shall as such receive further training from time to time to keep themselves abreast 
of the latest development in statutory laws, regulations and best practices, where appropriate, in line with 
the changing business environment and enhance their business acumen and professionalism in discharging 
their duties to the Group.

 The Directors have participated in conferences, seminars and training programmes and during the financial 
period ended 31 December 2014, the following training programmes and seminars were attended by the 
Directors:-

Name of Directors Name of courses Date

Datuk’ Wira Rahadian 
Mahmud Bin Mohammad

23 December 2014

Toh Hong Chye
for Goods and Service Tax- Registration 
and Compliance

25 April 2014

26 August 2014

Wong Ngai Peow
Directors of public listed companies

27 - 28 August 2014

Dato’ Lai Wen Shian
Directors pf public listed companies

27 - 28 August 2014

Low Kim Leng 13 August 2014

Tan Fie Jen
Kecemasan

Effective Board Evaluation

Corporate Governance Scorecard

– Workshops for Audit Committee 
Members

06 April 2014
 
20 April 2014
26 August 2014

28 August 2014

13 - 14 September 2014
07 October 2014
 
13 October 2014

Ng Kok Wah 26 August 2014

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS
[Continued]
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8. Nomination Committee 

 As recommended by MCCG, the Company has established the Nomination Committee (“NC”) comprising 
exclusively of Non-Executive Directors, with the responsibilities of assessing the balance composition of Board 
members, nominate the proposed Board member by looking into his skills and expertise for contribution to 
the Company on an ongoing basis. The appointment of new Directors is the responsibility of the full Board 
after considering the recommendations of the NC. The NC is aware of their duties and responsibilities. As 
a whole, the Company maintains a very lean number of Board members. 

 In general, the process for the appointment of directors to the Board is as follows:-

(i) The NC reviews the Board’s composition through Board assessment/evaluation;
(ii) The NC determines skills matrix;
(iii) The NC evaluates and matches the criteria of the candidates, and will consider diversity, including 

gender, where appropriate;
(iv) The NC recommends to the Board for appointment; and 
(v) The Board approves the appointment of the candidates.

 The NC would conduct an annual review of the composition of the Board and makes recommendations to 
the Board accordingly, with a view to meeting current and future requirements of the Group. The Committee 
is satisfied with the current size of the Board, and with the mix of qualifications, skills & experience among 
the Board members. Among other evaluation criteria is the commitment displayed, the depth of contribution, 
ability to communicate and undertake assignments on behalf of the Board.

 The Board is aware of the gender diversity policy and targets as set out in the MCCG. However, the 
Board is of the view that the Board membership is dependent on each candidate’s skills, experience, core 
competencies and other qualities, regardless of gender.  Nevertheless, for any new proposed appointment 
of directors of the Company in future, the NC and the Board will evaluate and match the criteria of the 
potential candidate to the Board as well considering the boardroom diversity.  

 The present members of the NC as follows:-

 Low Kim Leng (Appointed on 28 May 2014) Chairman
 Ng Kok Wah (Appointed on 24 July 2014) Member
 Tan Fie Jen (Appointed on 24 July 2014) Member

 The past members of the NC as follows:-

 Ku Mun Fong (Resigned on 24 March 2014) Chairman
 Ismawadee Bin Ismail (Not re-elected on 28 March 2014) Member
 Dato’ Ahmad Bin Ismail (Removed on 28 May 2014) Member

9. Re-election and Re-appointment of Directors

 The procedure on re-election of directors by rotation is set out in the Company’s Articles of Association 
(“the Articles”). Pursuant to the Articles, all Directors who are appointed by the Board during the year are 
subject to re-election by shareholders at the first meeting after their appointment. The Articles also provide at 
least one third (1/3) of the remaining Directors are subject to re-election by rotation at each Annual General 
Meeting and retiring directors can offer themselves for re-election. All Directors shall retire from office at least 
once in every three (3) years, but shall be eligible for re-election. Directors over seventy (70) years of age 
are subject for re-appointment annually in accordance with Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS
[Continued]
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10. Reinforce Independence 

 The Non-Executive Directors are not employees of the Group and do not participate in the day to day 
management of the Group. The Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, are independent directors 
and are able to express their views without any constraint. This strengthens the Board which benefits 
from the independent views expressed before any decisions are taken. The Nomination Committee has 
reviewed the performance of the independent directors and is satisfied they have been able to discharge 
their responsibilities in an independent manner.

 None of the current independent board members had served the Company for more than nine (9) years as 
per the recommendations of MCCG. Should the tenure of an independent director exceed nine (9) years, 
shareholders approval will be sought at a General Meeting or if the services of the director concerned are 
still required, the director concerned will be re-designated as a non-independent director.

 There is clear separation of powers between the Chairman, who is an independent director and the Exeuctive 
Directors, and this further enhances the independence of the Board. Should any director have an interest in 
any matter under deliberation, he is required to disclose his interest and abstain from participating discussions 
on the matter.

B. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

1. Procedures

 The Directors’ fee including Non-Executive Directors if any, have to be endorsed by the Board and would 
seek approval from the shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting. The compensations 
for Non-Executive Directors are linked to their experience and level of responsibility taken.

 The determination of the remuneration for Non-Executive Directors is a matter of the Board as a whole. The 
level of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors reflects the amount paid by other comparable organisations, 
adjusted for the experience and levels of responsibilities undertaken by the particular Non-Executive Directors 
concerned. The remuneration package of Non-Executive Directors will be a matter to be deliberated by the 
Board, with the Director concerned abstaining from deliberations and voting on deliberations in respect of 
his individual remuneration. In addition, the Company also reimburses reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred by all the Non-Executive Directors in the course of their duties as Directors of the Company. The 
aggregate annual Directors’ fees are to be approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting based 
on recommendations of the Board.

2. Disclosure 

 The aggregate remuneration of Directors for the financial period ended 31 December 2014 is as follow:
  

      Non-
     Executive Executive
     Directors Directors
     (RM) (RM)

Salary and *other emoluments    675,873 –
Directors’ fee    5,250 175,935

Total     681,123 175,935

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS
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B. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONT’D)

2. Disclosure (Cont’d)

The number of Directors whose remuneration fall into the following bands is as follows:-  

Range of Remuneration (RM) Executive Non-Executive
50,000 and below – 8
50,001 – 100,000 1 –
150,001 – 200,000  3 –

 Details of the individual Director’s remuneration are not disclosed in this report as the Board is of the view 
that the above remuneration disclosures by band and analysis between Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors satisfies the accountability and transparency aspects of MCCG.

3. Remuneration Committee
 
 In line with the best practices of MCCG, the Board has set up a Remuneration Committee (“RC”) which would 

comprise a majority of Independent Non-Executive Directors in order to assist the Board for determining 
the Director’s remuneration. 

 The RC meets when required and is entrusted, among others, with examining the remuneration packages 
and other benefits of the Executive Director. The contribution, responsibilities and performance of each 
Executive Director is taken into account when determining their respective remuneration packages.

 However, the ultimate responsibility to approve the remuneration of the Directors remains with the Board 
as a whole. The respective Director are not involved in any discussions and/or deliberations with regards 
to their own remuneration.

 The present members of the RC as follow:-

Low Kim Leng (Appointed on 28 May 2014)  Chairman
Ng Kok Wah (Appointed on 24 July 2014)  Member
Tan Fie Jen (Appointed on 24 July 2014)  Member

 The past members of the RC as follows:-

Dato’ Ahmad Bin Ismail (Removed on 28 May 2014)  Chairman
Ismawadee Bin Ismail (Not re-elected on 28 March 2014)  Member

C. COMMUNICATION BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND ITS SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS 

 Dialogue between Company and Investors

 The Board recognises the importance of keeping the shareholders informed and updated of development concerning 
the Group. In this regard, the Group strictly adheres to the disclosure requirements of Bursa Securities. The Group 
practices open communication with its investors.

 In its efforts to promote effective communication, the Board recognises that timely and equal dissemination of 
consistent and accurate information are provided to them through public announcements made throughout the 
year to Bursa Securities. The shareholders and members of the public are also invited to access the Group’s 
website at www.AppAsia.com for the latest information on the Group.

 The Company’s Annual Report, circulars and financial results are dispatched on annually basis to the shareholders 
to provide an overview of the Group’s business activities and performances. The Share Registrar is available to 
attend to administrative matters relating to shareholder interests.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS
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C. COMMUNICATION BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND ITS SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS (CONT’D)
 
 Annual General Meeting

 The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is the principal forum for dialogue with the shareholders. The shareholders 
will be given sufficient notice of the holding of the AGM through the Annual Report that is sent to them. At the 
AGM, the Board will present to the shareholders with a comprehensive report on the progress and performance 
of the Group and the shareholders are encouraged to participate in the questions and answers session there at, 
where they will be given the opportunity to raise questions or seek more information during the AGM. Informal 
discussions between the Directors, senior management staff and the shareholders and investors are always active 
before and after the General Meetings.

 Apart from contacts at general meetings, currently there is no other formal program or schedule of meetings with 
investors, shareholders, stakeholders and the public generally. However, the management has the option of calling 
for meetings with investors/analysts if it deems necessary. Thus far, the management is of the opinion that the 
existing arrangement has been satisfactory.

 On poll voting, the Board is of the opinion that with the current level of shareholders’ attendance at general meetings, 
voting by way of a show of hands continues to be efficient. During the general meetings, the Chairman of the 
meeting shall remind all members present about their right to demand for a poll in accordance with the provisions 
of the Articles of Association of the Company in the voting on any resolutions. Currently, all resolutions put forth for 
the shareholders’ approval are carried out by a show of hands, unless a poll is demanded or specifically required.

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

1. Financial Reporting 

 In presenting the annual financial statements and quarterly announcements to shareholders, the aim of the 
directors is to present a balanced and comprehensible assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. 
The Audit Committee assists the Board to ensure accuracy and adequacy of all annual and quarterly financial 
reports, audited and unaudited for disclosure. The statement by the Board pursuant to Rule 15.26(a) of 
the Listing Requirements on its responsibilities in preparing the financial statements is set out in Section E 
below.

2. Internal Controls

 The Board affirms the importance of sound internal control and risk management practices to safeguard 
shareholders’ investments, customers’ interest and the Group’s assets. In order to improve internal controls 
within the Group, the Board has appointed an established independent professional firm to carry out the 
internal audit function for the Group. 

 The information on the Group’s internal control is further elaborated in pages 25 to 26 on the Statement on 
Risk Management and Internal Control of this Annual Report.

3. Relationship with Auditors

 The Board has appropriately established a formal and transparent relationship with the Group’s external 
auditors. From time to time, the auditors will highlight to the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors on 
matters that require the Audit Committee’s and Board’s attention and action. The role of the Audit Committee 
in relation to the external auditors can be found in the Audit Committee Report as set out in pages 22 to 24 
of this Annual Report. Annual appointment or re-appointment of the external auditors is via shareholders’ 
resolution at the AGM on the recommendation of the Board. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS
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E. STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 1965 to prepare financial statements for each financial year 
which have been made out in accordance with the applicable approved accounting standards so as to give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company at the end of the financial year and of the results 
and cash flows of the Group and Company for the financial year.

 The Directors are satisfied that in preparing the financial statements of the Group for the financial period ended 
31 December 2014, the Group has used the appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.  The Directors also consider that all applicable 
approved accounting standards have been complied with and further confirm that the financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

 The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps proper accounting records with reasonable 
accuracy of the financial position of the Company.  The Directors are to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with mandatory provisions of the Companies Act, 1965, the Malaysia Approved Accounting Standards 
and the Listing Requirements. The Directors are also responsible for taking such reasonable steps to safeguard 
the assets of the Group and to minimise fraud and other irregularities.

F. COMPLIANCE STATEMENT 

 The Group has complied with and shall remain committed to attaining the highest possible standards through the 
continuous adoption of the principles and best practices of MCCG and all other applicable laws.

SHARE ISSUANCE SCHEME (“SIS”) OPTION COMMITTEE

 The SIS Committee was established on 12 March 2015. Its main responsibility is to oversee the administration as well 
as to ensure proper implementation of the SIS according to the By-Laws of the SIS. The present members of the SIS 
Committee are as follow:-

Toh Hong Chye (Chairman)
Wong Ngai Peow 
Yong Mai Fang
Joanne Shu 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS
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REPORT OF THE 
AUDIT COMMITTEE (“AC”)

1. COMPOSITION

Chairman
Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil - Independent Non-Executive Chairman
(Appointed on 24 July 2014)

Members
Ng Kok Wah (Appointed on 24 July 2014) - Independent Non-Executive Director
Tan Fie Jen (Appointed on 24 July 2014) - Independent Non-Executive Director

The past members of the AC as follows:- 

Chairman
Ismawadee Bin Ismail (Chairman) (Not re-elected on 28 March 2014)

Members
Dato’ Ahmad Bin Ismail (Removed on 28 May 2014)
Ku Mun Fong (Resigned on 24 March 2014)

   

2. TERMS OF REFERENCE

1.  Duties and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee

 The following are the main duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee collectively:

(1)  Review the following and report the same to the Board of the Company:-

(i)  with the external auditors, the audit plan;

(ii) with the external auditors, his evaluation of the system of internal controls;

(iii)  with the external auditors, his audit report;

(iv)  the assistance given by the employees of the Company to the external auditors and the internal 
auditors;

(v) the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit functions 
and that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;

(vi) the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, 
processes or investigation undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the 
recommendations of the internal audit function;

(vii) the quarterly results and year end financial statements, prior to the approval by the Board, 
focusing particularly on:
(a) any changes in existing or implementation of new accounting policies;
(b) significant adjustments arising from the audit;
(c) significant and unusual events;
(d) the going concern assumptions; and
(e) compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;

(vii) any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company 
or group including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of 
management integrity;

(ix) any letter of resignation from the external auditors and any questions of resignation or dismissal; 
and

(x) whether there is reason (supported by grounds) to believe that the Company’s external auditor 
is not suitable  for re-appointment.
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2. TERMS OF REFERENCE (CONT’D)

1.  Duties and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee (Cont’d)

 The following are the main duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee collectively: (Cont’d)

(2) Oversee the Company’s internal control structure to ensure operational effectiveness and efficiency, 
reduce risk of inaccurate financial reporting, protect the Company’s assets from misappropriation 
and encourage legal and regulatory compliance;

(3) Assist the Board in identifying the principal risks in the achievement of the Company’s objectives and 
ensuring the implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks;

(4) Recommend to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of the external auditors and their 
audit fee, after taking into consideration the independence and objectivity of the external auditors 
and the cost effectiveness of the audit;

(5) Discuss with the external auditors before the audit commences the nature and scope of the audit 
and ensure co-ordination where more than one audit firm is involved;

(6) Discuss problems and reservations arising from the audits and any matter the auditors may wish to 
discuss in the absence of the management where necessary;

(7) Review the external auditor’s management letter and management’s response therein;

(8) To carry out an annual review of the performance of the external auditors, including assessment of 
independence of external auditors in the performance of their obligations as external auditors;

(9) Establish policies and procedures in governing circumstances for contracts of non-audit services to 
be entered with external auditors;

(10) To review and monitor the suitability and independence of the external auditors;

(11) In relation to the internal audit function:-

(i) review the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources and competency of the internal 
audit function, and that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;

(ii) review the internal audit programme and results of the internal audit programme, processes 
or investigation undertaken and, where necessary, ensure that appropriate actions are taken 
on the recommendations of the internal audit function;

(iii) review any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function;
(iv) approve any appointment or termination of senior staff members of the internal audit function; 

and
(v) take cognisance of resignations of internal audit staff members and provide the resigning staff 

member an opportunity to submit his reasons for resigning.

(12) Consider the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response; and

(13) Consider other matters as defined by the Board.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (“AC”)
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2. TERMS OF REFERENCE (CONT’D)

2. Rights of the Audit Committee

 In carrying out its duties and responsibilities, the Audit Committee will have the authority to investigate any 
matter within its terms of reference;

audit function or activity;

experience and expertise to attend the Audit Committee meetings (if required) and to brief the Audit 
Committee; and

attendance of other directors and employees of the Company, whenever deemed necessary.

3. ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

 During the financial period ended 31 December 2014, the Audit Committee held four (4) meetings. Details of the 
attendance of committee members are as follow:

  Attendance
Datuk  Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil (Appointed on 24 July 2014) 2/2
Ng Kok Wah (Appointed on 24 July 2014) 2/2
Tan Fie Jen (Appointed on 24 July 2014) 2/2
Ismawadee Bin Ismail (Not re-elected on 28 March 2014) 2/2
Dato’ Ahmad Bin Ismail (Removed on 28 May 2014) 2/2
Ku Mun Fong (Resigned on 24 March 2014) 2/2

4. SUMMARY ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE DURING THE YEAR

 The activities of the Audit Committee during the financial period ended 31 December 2014 include the following: 

a) Reviewed the quarterly unaudited financial of the Group and the Company including the announcements 
pertaining thereto, before recommending to the Board for their approval and release of the Group’s results 
to Bursa Securities;

b) Reviewed with external auditors on their audit planning memorandum on the statutory audit of the Group 
for the financial period ended 31 December 2014;

c) Reviewed and discussed with the external auditors of their audit findings inclusive of system evaluation, 
audit fees, issues raised, audit recommendations and management’s response to these recommendations;

e) Reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control;

f) Reviewed related party transactions and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or 
the Group;

g) Reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Listing Requirements, applicable Approved Accounting 
Standards and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements; and

h) Reported to the Board on its activities and significant findings and results.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (“AC”)
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INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of AppAsia Berhad (Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) (“AppAsia” or “the Company”) is 
pleased to provide the following Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control pursuant to Rule 15.26(b) of 
the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and as guided by the 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Guidelines”).

RESPONSIBILITY

The Board recognises the importance of good risk management practices and sound internal controls as a platform to 
good corporate governance. The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for maintaining a sound system of risk 
management and internal control, and for reviewing its adequacy and integrity. In addition, the Board has also received 
assurance from the Executive Directors and Group Accountant that the Group’s risk management and internal control 
system is operating adequately and effectively, in all material aspects.

Due to inherent limitations in any risk management and internal control system, such system put into effect by management 
is designed to manage rather than eliminate risks that may impede the achievement of the Group’s business objectives. 
Therefore, the risk management and internal control system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or errors.

The Board through its Audit Committee has established an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group and this process includes enhancing the risk management and internal control 
system as and when there are changes to the business environment and regulatory requirements. The process is 
reviewed by the Board and the Audit Committee on a periodic basis.

Management assists the Board in the implementation of the Board’s policies and procedures on risk and control by 
identifying and assessing the risks faced by the Group, and in the design and operation of suitable internal controls to 
mitigate these risks identified.

The Board is of the view that the risk management and internal control system in place for the period under review and 
up to the date of issuance of the annual report is adequate and effective to safeguard the shareholders’ investment, the 
interests of customers, regulators, employees and the Group’s assets.

KEY FEATURES OF THE GROUP’S RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 

Key elements that have been established in the Group’s risk management and internal control system are described below:

1. Risk Management System

 Risk management is firmly embedded in the Group’s management system as the Board firmly believes that risk 
management is critical for the Group’s sustainability and the enhancement of shareholder value. Key management 
staff and Heads of Department are delegated with the responsibility to manage identified risks within defined 
parameters and standards. Periodic Management Meetings which are attended by the Department Heads and key 
management staff are held to discuss key risks and the appropriate mitigating controls. Significant risks affecting 
the Group’s strategic and business plans are escalated to the Board at their scheduled meetings.

 The key management staff meets regularly to review the risks faced by the Group and ensure that the existing 
mitigation actions are adequate. Risks identified were prioritized in terms of likelihood of occurrence and its impact 
on the achievement of the Group’s business objectives.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL 
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KEY FEATURES OF THE GROUP’S RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM (CONT’D)

2. Internal Control System

(i) A well-defined organisational structure with clear lines of accountability and responsibilities provide a 
sound framework within the organisation in facilitating check and balance for proper decision making at 
the appropriate authority levels of management including matters that require the Board’s approval.

(ii) A documented delegation of authority that sets out decisions that need to be taken and the appropriate 
levels of management involved including matters that require the Board’s approval.

(iii) The Board of Directors and Audit Committee meet at least once on a quarterly basis to review and 
deliberate on financial reports, quarterly financial statements, internal audit reports and etc. Discussions 
with management were held to deliberate on the actions that are required to be taken to address internal 
control issues identified.

(iv) Internal policies and procedures had been established for key business units within the Group. 

3. Internal Audit Function

 The Group’s internal audit function is outsourced to an independent professional firm, to assist the Board and 
Audit Committee in providing an independent assessment on the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control system.

 The cost incurred in respect of risk management and internal audit functions for the financial period ended 31 
December 2014 amounted to RM6,500, the fees payable to the outsourced Internal Auditors, SF Chang Corporate 
Services Sdn Bhd,.

 During the financial period ended 31 December 2014, internal audit visits were carried out and the findings of the 
internal audit, including the recommended corrective actions, were presented directly to the Audit Committee.

 In addition, follow up review will be conducted to ensure that corrective actions have been implemented on a 
timely manner. Based on the internal audit review conducted, none of the weaknesses noted have resulted in any 
material losses, contingencies or uncertainties that would require a separate disclosure in this annual report. 

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The external auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control for inclusion in the annual 
report of the Group for the period ended 31 December 2014 and reported to the Board that nothing has come to their 
attention that causes them to believe that the statement is inconsistent with their understanding of the process adopted 
by the Board in reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system.

CONCLUSION

The Board is of the view that the Group’s system of internal control is adequate to safeguard shareholders’ investments 
and the Group’s assets. However, the Board is also cognizant of the fact that the Group’s system of internal control 
and risk management practices must continuously evolve to meet the changing and challenging business environment. 
Therefore, the Board will, when necessary, put in place appropriate action plans to further enhance the Group’s system 
of internal control and risk management framework.

This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 10 April 2015.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
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1. UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS FROM CORPORATE EXERCISE 

 The Company’s Private Placement of 12,632,400 new ordinary shares was completed on 28 January 2014.

 The Company had fully ulitised the proceeds from the Private Placement as at 30 September 2014 and the status 
of utilization of proceeds is as follows:

      Intended
      Timeframe for
      utilization (from the
   Proceeds Amount Amount date of list of the 
Purpose  Raise Utilised Unutilised placement shares i.e 
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 28 January 2014)

Working Capital  1,177 1,177 – Within 12 months

Listing Expenses  149 149 – Within 1 month

Total   1,326 1,326 –

2. SHARE BUY-BACKS

 The Company did not carry out any share buy-back exercise during the financial period. 

3. OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES 

 During the financial period ended 31 December 2014, no option has been granted and exercised under the Share 
Issuance Scheme.

 On 24 December 2014, 138,956,400 new warrants were issued by the Company pursuant to Rights Issue of 
Shares with Warrants exercise.

4. DEPOSITORY RECEIPT PROGRAMMES

 The Company did not sponsor any depository receipt programmes during the financial period.

5. IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS/PENALTIES  

 During the financial period, there were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries, 
directors or management by the regulatory bodies. 

6. NON-AUDIT FEES 

 No non-audit fees paid to the external auditors by the Company and its subsidiary companies during the financial 
year period 31 December 2014.  

7. VARIANCE IN RESULTS, PROFIT ESTIMATE, FORECAST OR PROJECTION 

 There were no significant variances between the results for the financial period and the unaudited results previously 
announced on 17 February 2015.

OTHER DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS PURSUANT 
TO THE LISTING REQUIREMENTS OF BURSA SECURITIES  
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8. PROFIT GUARANTEE

 The Company did not give any form of profit guarantee to any parties during the financial period.

9. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

 During the financial period, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiary 
involving Directors’ and major shareholders’ interests. 

10. CONTRACTS RELATING TO LOAN

 During the financial period, there were no material contracts relating to loans entered into by the Company involving 
Directors and major shareholders.

11. RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE AND TRADING NATURE 

 During the financial period, there were no recurrent related party transactions of revenue nature conducted pursuant 
to shareholders’ mandate.

OTHER DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS PURSUANT
 TO THE LISTING REQUIREMENTS OF BURSA SECURITIES  
[Continued]
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The Directors hereby present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
for the financial period ended 31 December 2014.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is that of research and development and sale of Information Communication 
Technology (ICT) security systems and provision of related professional services which are directly and indirectly linked 
to ICT and investment holding.

The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial period.

Financial Results

				    Group 	C ompany
				R    M 	R M

Loss before taxation 				    (13,337,367)	 (5,575,123)
Taxation 				    135,955	 –

Loss for the financial period, 
  attributable to owners of the parent 				    (13,201,412)	  (5,575,123)

Dividends

There were no dividends proposed, declared or paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year. The 
Board of Directors does not recommend any dividend in respect of the current financial period.

Reserves and Provisions

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial period other than those disclosed 
in the financial statements.

Issue of Shares and Debentures

During the current financial period, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from 126,324,000 to 
138,956,400 through the issuance of 12,632,400 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each pursuant to private placement at an 
issue price of RM0.105 per placement share.

The new ordinary shares issued during the financial period rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary 
shares of the Company. 

There was no issuance of debentures during the financial period.

Options Granted Over Unissued Shares

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial period.

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT
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Directors

The Directors in office since the date of the last report are as follows:

Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil	 (appointed on 24.07.2014)
Toh Hong Chye	 (appointed on 24.07.2014)
Wong Ngai Peow	 (appointed on 28.05.2014)
Dato’ Lai Wen Shian	 (appointed on 28.05.2014)
Low Kim Leng	 (appointed on 28.05.2014)
Tan Fie Jen	 (appointed on 24.07.2014)
Ng Kok Wah	 (appointed on 24.07.2014)
Mohd Badaruddin Bin Masodi	 (not re-elected on 28.03.2014)
Ismawadee Bin Ismail	 (not re-elected on 28.03.2014)
Dato’ Ahmad Bin Ismail	 (removed on 28.05.2014)
Mohd Faidzal Bin Ahmad Mahidin	 (removed on 28.05.2014)
Megat Mohd Hazim Bin Megat Mohd Aminuddin	 (appointed on 20.05.2014,
	   removed on 28.05.2014)
Ku Mun Fong	 (resigned on 24.03.2014)

Directors’ Interests

The interests and deemed interests in the shares of the Company or its related corporations (other than wholly owned 
subsidiary companies) by the Directors in office at the end of the financial period according to the Register of Directors’ 
Shareholdings are as follows:

	N umber of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
	A t date of 		R  ights 		A  t
	 appointment	A cquired 	 issued 	S old 	 31.12.2014

Interests in the Company
Direct interests
Dato’ Lai Wen Shian 	 6,000,000 	 – 	 – 	 (6,000,000)	 –
Wong Ngai Peow 	 1,500 	 – 	 1,500 	 – 	 3,000
Tan Fie Jen 	 400,000	  – 	 424,700 	 – 	 824,700
Toh Hong Chye 	 – 	 805,700 	 2,000,000 	 – 	 2,805,700

Indirect interests
# Dato’ Lai Wen Shian 	 1,500,000 	 2,500,000 	 4,247,100 	 – 	 8,247,100
* Toh Hong Chye 	 – 	 – 	 3,000,000 	 – 	 3,000,000

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Directors’ Interests (Cont’d)

	N umber of Warrants
		A  t date of			A   t
		 appointment	A cquired	S old	 31.12.2014

Interests in the Company
Direct interests
Wong Ngai Peow		   – 	  1,500 	  – 	  1,500 
Tan Fie Jen		   – 	  424,700 	  – 	  424,700 
Toh Hong Chye		   – 	  2,000,000 	  – 	  2,000,000 

Indirect interests
# Dato’ Lai Wen Shian		   – 	  4,247,100 	  – 	  4,247,100 
* Toh Hong Chye		   – 	  3,000,000 	  – 	  3,000,000 

#	 Deemed interest pursuant to the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Crystal Privilege Sdn. Bhd.
*	 Deemed interest pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965 (“the Act”) by virtue of his substantial 

shareholdings in Richmond Virginia Tobacco Sdn. Bhd.

Note:	 Rights shares and warrants are allotted on 24 December 2014. The Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants are 
listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities on 2 January 2015.

None of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial period had any interest in the ordinary shares of the 
Company and of its related corporations during the financial period.

Directors’ Benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a 
benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors 
as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the 
Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial 
financial interest, other than certain Directors who have significant financial interests in companies which traded with 
certain companies in the Group in the ordinary course of business as disclosed in Note 29(b) to the financial statements. 

Neither during nor at the end of the financial period, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was 
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or 
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
[continued]
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Other Statutory Information

(a)	 Before the statements of financial position and statements of comprehensive income of the Group and of the 
Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(i)	 to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance 
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate 
allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting 
records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be 
expected so to realise.

(b)	 At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(i)	 which would render the amounts write off bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(ii)	 which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of 
the Company misleading; or

(iii)	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which 
would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading; or

(iv)	 which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities 
of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(c)	 At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial 
period which secures the liability of any other person; or

(ii)	 any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial period 
other than those arising in the normal course of business of the Group and of the Company.

(d)	 In the opinion of the Directors:

(i)	 no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial period which will or may affect the ability of the Group 
and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due;

(ii)	 the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial period were not substantially 
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature, except as disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements; and 

(iii)	 there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any 
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the 
operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial period in which this report is made. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
[continued]
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Significant Events 

The significant events are disclosed in Note 33 to the financial statements.

Subsequent Events 

The subsequent events are disclosed in Note 34 to the financial statements.

Change of Name

On 10 October 2014, the Company changed its name from Extol MSC Berhad to AppAsia Berhad.

Change of Financial Year End

The financial year end of the Group and of the Company was changed from 30 September to    31 December. Accordingly, 
the current financial statements are prepared for fifteen months from 1 October 2013 to 31 December 2014. As a 
result the comparative figures stated in the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes of equity and 
statements of cash flows and the related notes are not comparable. 

Auditors

The Auditors, Messrs UHY, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 10 April 2015.

	TOH  HONG CHYE	 WONG NGAI PEOW

KUALA LUMPUR

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
[continued]
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We, the undersigned, being two of the Directors of the Company, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, 
the financial statements set out on pages 38 to 97 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 December 2014 and of their 
financial performance and cash flows for the financial period then ended.

The supplementary information set out in Note 38 to the financial statements on page 98 have been compiled in 
accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the 
Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 10 April 2015.

	TOH  HONG CHYE	 WONG NGAI PEOW

KUALA LUMPUR

STATEMENT BY 
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

STATUTORY 
DECLARATION

Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, TOH HONG CHYE, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of APPASIA BERHAD (formerly 
known as Extol MSC Berhad), do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the financial 
statements set out on pages 38 to 98 are correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same 
to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed 
at KUALA LUMPUR in the state of Federal Territory 
on 10 April 2015

)
)
)

TOH HONG CHYE

Before me, 

MOHAN A.S. MANIAM
NO. W 521

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS
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Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad), which comprise 
the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2014 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company 
for the financial period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, 
as set out on pages 38 to 97.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as 
of 31 December 2014 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial period then ended in accordance 
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF APPASIA BERHAD
(Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad)(Company No.: 643683-U (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the followings:

(i)	 In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company 
and its subsidiary companies of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act.

(ii)	 We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiary companies that have been consolidated with the 
Company’s financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation 
of the financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required 
by us for those purposes.

(iii)	 The audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies did not contain any qualification or any 
adverse comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

Other Reporting Responsibilities

The supplementary information set out in Note 38 on page 98 is solely disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised 
and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 
the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matters

(1)	 This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.

(2)	 The financial statements of AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) for the financial year ended 
30 September 2013 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial 
statements on 20 January 2014.

UHY
Firm Number: AF 1411
Chartered Accountants

YEOH AIK CHUAN
Approved Number: 2239/07/16 (J)
Chartered Accountant

KUALA LUMPUR

10 April 2015

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF APPASIA BERHAD
(Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad)(Company No.: 643683-U (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
	N ote	R M	R M	R M	R M

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and 
  equipment	 4	  331,998 	  590,581 	  160,953 	  60,552
Investment properties	 5	  1,328,080 	  1,378,880 	  – 	  – 
Product development 
  expenditure	 6	  – 	  2,862,997 	  – 	  2,726,776
Investment in subsidiary 
  companies	 7	  – 	  – 	  9,506,504 	  8,281,500
Goodwill on consolidation	 8	  – 	  3,541,003 	  – 	  –

 		  1,660,078 	  8,373,461 	  9,667,457 	  11,068,828 

Current Assets
Inventories	 9	  – 	  1,107,033 	  – 	  – 
Trade receivables	 10	  1,400,038 	  2,794,332 	  – 	  – 
Other receivables	 11	  800,056 	  754,441 	  438,020 	  110,086
Amount due from 
  subsidiary companies	 12	  – 	  – 	  4,415,226 	  3,906,448
Tax recoverable		   69,022 	  – 	  – 	  –
Fixed deposits with 
  licensed bank	 13	  308,158 	  981,213 	  – 	  –
Cash and bank balances	 14	  2,178,816 	  5,308,353 	  624,274 	  3,140,398

		  4,756,090 	  10,945,372 	  5,477,520 	  7,156,932

Total Assets		   6,416,168 	  19,318,833 	  15,144,977 	  18,225,760

STATEMENTS OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2014
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	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
	N ote	R M	R M	R M	R M

EQUITY

Share capital	 15	  13,895,640 	  12,632,400 	  13,895,640 	  12,632,400 
Share premium	 16	  4,081,846 	  4,167,884 	  4,081,846 	  4,167,884 
(Accumulated losses)/
  Retained earnings		   (13,053,374)	  148,038 	  (4,362,049)	  1,213,074
 
Total Equity		   4,924,112 	  16,948,322 	  13,615,437 	  18,013,358 

LIABILITIES

Non-Current Liabilities
Finance lease liability	 17	  75,530 	  – 	  75,530 	  – 
Bank borrowing	 18	  – 	  500,000 	  – 	  – 
Deferred tax liabilities	 19	  – 	  113,549 	  – 	  –

		   75,530 	  613,549 	  75,530 	  – 

Current Liabilities
Trade payables	 20	  547,606 	  864,848 	  – 	  – 
Other payables	 21	  330,631 	  306,262 	  218,721 	  212,402 
Amount due to
  subsidiary companies	 12	  – 	  – 	  1,197,000 	  – 
Finance lease liability	 17	  38,289 	  – 	  38,289 	  – 
Bank borrowing	 18	  500,000 	  500,000 	  – 	  – 
Provision for taxation		   – 	  85,852 	  – 	  –

		   1,416,526 	  1,756,962 	  1,454,010 	  212,402

Total Liabillities		   1,492,056 	  2,370,511 	  1,529,540 	  212,402

Total Equity and Liabilities		   6,416,168 	  19,318,833 	  15,144,977 	  18,225,760 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2014

[continued]



40 AppAsia Berhad ► www.AppAsia.com

STATEMENTS OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial period ended 31 December 2014

	 Group	C ompany
		  1.10.2013 	 1.10.2012 	 1.10.2013 	 1.10.2012	
		   to 	  to 	  to 	  to 
		   31.12.2014 	  30.9.2013	 31.12.2014 	  30.9.2013 
	N ote	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 

Revenue	 22	  14,927,480 	  13,509,218 	  5,013,029 	  2,398,720 

Cost of sales		   (13,244,309)	  (8,668,837)	  (4,375,934)	  (188,080)

Gross profit		   1,683,171 	  4,840,381 	  637,095 	  2,210,640 

Other income		   387,591 	  412,893 	  110,032 	  120,808 

Administrative expenses		   (4,662,101)	  (4,114,859)	  (2,608,713)	  (2,421,539)

Selling and distribution expenses		   (561,124)	  (579,211)	  (277,851)	  (215,978)

Other expenses		   (10,113,914)	  (1,941,786)	  (3,434,669)	  (725,268)

Finance costs	 23	  (70,990)	  (34,639)	  (1,017)	 – 

Loss before taxation	 24	  (13,337,367)	  (1,417,221)	  (5,575,123)	  (1,031,337)

Taxation	 25	  135,955 	  60,768 	  –	  (420)

Net loss for the financial
  period/year, representing  total 
  comprehensive income
  for the financial period/year		   (13,201,412)	  (1,356,453)	  (5,575,123)	  (1,031,757)

Net loss for the financial  
  period/year attributable to:
    Owners of the parent		   (13,201,412)	  (1,356,453)

Loss per share

Basic loss per share (sen)	 26	 (9.73)	  (1.07)

Diluted loss per share (sen)	 26	  N/A 	  N/A 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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	A ttributable to the Owners of the Parent
				R    etained
		N  on-Distributable	E arnings/
		S  hare	S hare	 (Accumulated	T otal
		C  apital	 Premium	L oss)	E quity
	N ote	R M	R M	R M	R M

Group

At 1 October 2012		   12,632,400 	  4,167,884 	  1,504,491 	  18,304,775 

Net loss for the financial year, 
  representing total comprehensive
  income for the financial year		  –	 –	  (1,356,453)	  (1,356,453)

At 30 September 2013		   12,632,400 	  4,167,884 	  148,038 	  16,948,322 

Issued of shares	 15, 16	  1,263,240 	  63,162 	  – 	  1,326,402 

Shares issuance expenses	 16	 – 	  (149,200)	  –	  (149,200)

Net loss for the financial period, 
  representing total comprehensive
  income for the financial period		  –	 – 	  (13,201,412)	  (13,201,412)

At 31 December 2014		   13,895,640 	  4,081,846 	  (13,053,374)	  4,924,112 

Company

At 1 October 2012		   12,632,400 	  4,167,884 	  2,244,831 	  19,045,115 

Net loss for the financial year, 
  representing total comprehensive
  income for the financial year		  –	 –	  (1,031,757)	  (1,031,757)

At 30 September 2013		   12,632,400 	  4,167,884 	  1,213,074 	  18,013,358 

Issued of shares	 15, 16	  1,263,240 	  63,162 	 –	  1,326,402 

Shares issuance expenses	 16	 –	  (149,200)	 –	  (149,200)

Net loss for the financial period,
  representing total comprehensive
  income for the financial period		  –	 –	  (5,575,123)	  (5,575,123)

At 31 December 2014		   13,895,640 	  4,081,846 	  (4,362,049)	  13,615,437 

STATEMENTS OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial period ended 31 December 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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	 Group	C ompany
		   1.10.2013 	  1.10.2012 	  1.10.2013 	  1.10.2012 
		   to 	  to 	  to 	  to 
		   31.12.2014 	  30.9.2013 	  31.12.2014 	  30.9.2013 
		   RM 	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Loss before taxation		   (13,337,367)	  (1,417,221)	  (5,575,123)	  (1,031,337)

Adjustments for:
  Amortisation of product
    development expenditure		   574,497 	  845,040 	  466,730 	  622,306 
  Bad debts written off		   391,987 	  – 	  21,276 	  – 
  Depreciation of investment properties		   50,800 	  40,640 	  – 	  – 
  Depreciation of property, plant 
    and equipment		   235,009 	  557,124 	  44,498 	  83,717 
  Goodwill written off		   3,541,003 	  – 	  – 	  – 
  Impairment on trade receivables	  	 91,170 	  – 	  – 	  – 
  Interest expense		   70,990 	  34,639 	  1,017 	  – 
  Inventories written off		   663,267 	  – 	  – 	  – 
  Product development expediture
    written off		   2,524,797 	  – 	  2,260,046 	  – 
  Property, plant and equipment
    written off	  	 418,725 	  – 	  33,004 	  – 
  Gain on disposal of property,
    plant and equipment		   (32,999)	  – 	  (32,999)	  – 
  Unrealised gain on foreign exchange		   (9,826)	  – 	  – 	  – 
    Interest income		   (102,588)	  (131,829)	  (57,580)	  (88,706)

Operating loss before working
  capital changes carried down		   (4,920,535)	  (71,607)	  (2,839,131)	  (414,020)

  Change in working capital
    Inventories		   443,766 	  (882,297)	  – 	  – 
  Trade receivables		   1,191,983 	  224,853 	  – 	  – 
  Other receivables		   (326,461)	  (311,842)	  (349,210)	  (9,360)
  Trade payables		   (317,242)	  (875,662)	  – 	  – 
  Other payables		   24,369 	  (205,175)	  6,319 	  (26,582)
  Amount due from/to 
    subsidiary companies		   – 	  – 	  (536,778)	  185,241
 
		   1,016,415 	  (2,050,123)	  (879,669)	  149,299
 
Cash used in operations 		   (3,904,120)	  (2,121,730)	  (3,718,800)	  (264,721)
  Interest paid		   (70,990)	  (34,639)	  (1,017)	  – 
  Interest received		   102,588 	  131,829 	  57,580 	  88,706 
  Tax paid		   (132,468)	  (217,938)	  – 	  (420)

Net cash used in operating activities		   (4,004,990)	  (2,242,478)	  (3,662,237)	  (176,435)

STATEMENTS OF 
CASH FLOWS
For the financial period ended 31 December 2014
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	 Group	C ompany
		   1.10.2013 	  1.10.2012 	  1.10.2013 	  1.10.2012 
		   to 	  to 	  to 	  to 
		   31.12.2014 	  30.9.2013 	  31.12.2014 	  30.9.2013 
		   RM 	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
  Addition of product development
  expenditure (Note 6)		   (236,297)	  – 	  – 	  – 
  Purchase of property, plant
    and equipment [Note 4(a)]		   (275,152)	  (76,685)	  (57,904)	  (278)
  Proceeds from disposal of 
    property, plant and equipment		   33,000 	  – 	  33,000 	  – 
  Investment in subsidiary companies		   – 	  – 	  (4)	  –

Net cash used in investing activities	  	 (478,449)	  (76,685)	  (24,908)	  (278)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
  Proceeds from issuance of 
    shares (Note 15 & 16)		   1,326,402 	  – 	  1,326,402 	  – 
  Shares issuance expenses
    (Note 16)	  	 (149,200)	  – 	  (149,200)	  – 
  Withdrawal/(Addition) of
    fixed deposits pledged		   673,055 	  (127,115)	  – 	  – 
  Repayment of finance lease liabilities	  	 (6,181)	  (16,284)	  (6,181)	  – 
  Drawdown of term loan	  	 – 	  1,000,000 	  – 	  – 
  Repayment of term loan		   (500,000)	  – 	  – 	  –
 
Net cash from financing activities	  	 1,344,076 	  856,601 	  1,171,021 	  – 

Net decrease in cash and 
  cash equivalents		   (3,139,363)	  (1,462,562)	  (2,516,124)	  (176,713)
Effect of exchange translation
  differences on cash and cash 
  equivalents		   9,826 	  – 	  – 	  – 
Cash and cash equivalents  
  at beginning of the financial 
  period/year		   5,308,353 	  6,770,915 	  3,140,398 	  3,317,111 

Cash and cash equivalents  
  at the end of the financial
  period/year		   2,178,816 	  5,308,353 	  624,274 	  3,140,398 

Cash and cash equivalents   
  at the end of the financial 
  period/year comprises:
  Fixed deposits with licensed banks		   308,158 	  981,213 	  – 	  – 
  Cash and bank balances		   2,178,816 	  5,308,353 	  624,274 	  3,140,398
 
		   2,486,974 	  6,289,566 	  624,274 	  3,140,398 
  Less:	 Fixed deposits pledged with 
	 licensed banks		  (308,158)	  (981,213)	  – 	  – 

			    2,178,816 	  5,308,353 	  624,274 	  3,140,398 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial period ended 31 December 2014

[continued]

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1.	C orporate Information

	 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on ACE 
Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. On 10 October 2014, the Company changed its name for Extol MSC 
Berhad to AppAsia Berhad.

 
	 The registered office of the Company is located at Suite 10.03, Level 10, The Gardens South Tower, Mid Valley 

City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur.

	 The principal place of business of the Company is located at E-10-4, 10th Floor, Megan Avenue 1, Jalan Tun 
Razak, 50400 Kuala Lumpur. 

	 The principal activity of the Company is that of research and development and sale of Information Communication 
Technology (ICT) security systems and provision of related professional services which are directly and indirectly 
linked to ICT and investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Notes 
7. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial period. 

2.	B asis of Preparation 
	

(a)	 Statement of compliance

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, unless otherwise indicated in the significant accounting policies below. 

	A doption of new and amended standards and IC Interpretation 

	 During the financial period, the Group and the Company have adopted the following applicable amendments 
to MFRSs and IC Interpretations issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) that are 
mandatory for current financial period:

Amendments to MFRS 10, 
  MFRS 12 and MFRS 127

Investment Entities

Amendments to MFRS 132 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to MFRS 136 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 

Amendments to MFRS 139 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting

IC Interpretation 21 Levies

	 Adoption of above amendments to MFRSs and IC Interpretation did not have any significant impact on the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company.

NOTES TO 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[continued]

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[continued]

2.	B asis of Preparation (Cont’d)
	

(a)	 Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

	S tandards issued but not yet effective

	 The Group and the Company have not applied the following new MFRSs and amendments to MFRSs that 
have been issued by the MASB but are not yet effective for the Group and for the Company:

Effective dates 
for financial 

periods 
beginning 
on or after

Amendments to MFRS 119 Defined Benefits Plans: Employee Contributions 1 July 2014

Annual Improvements to 
  MFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle

1 July 2014

Annual Improvements to 
  MFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle

1 July 2014

MFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations

1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 116 
  and MFRS 138

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortisation

1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 127 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 10 
  and MFRS 128

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2016

Annual Improvements to 
  MFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle

1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 10, 
  MFRS 12 and MFRS 128 

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation 
Exception 

1 January 2016

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2017

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in 
July 2014)

1 January 2018

	 The Group and the Company intend to adopt the above MFRSs when they become effective.

	 The initial application of the abovementioned MFRSs are not expected to have any significant impacts on 
the financial statements of the Group and the Company except as mentioned below:

	 MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in July 2014)

	 MFRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in July 2014) replaces earlier versions of MFRS 9 and introduces a package 
of improvements which includes a classification and measurement model, a single forward looking ‘expected 
loss’ impairment model and a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. MFRS 9 when effective 
will replace MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
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(a)	 Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

	S tandards issued but not yet effective (Cont’d)

	 MFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement 
categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair 
value through profit or loss. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are required to 
be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes 
in fair value in other comprehensive income not recycling. There is now a new expected credit losses model 
that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in MFRS 139. For financial liabilities there were no 
changes to classification and measurement except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in 
other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. MFRS 9 relaxes 
the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires 
an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ 
to be the same as the one management actually use for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous 
documentation is still required but is different to that currently prepared under MFRS 139.

	 The adoption of MFRS 9 will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group is currently examining the 
financial impact of adopting MFRS 9.

	 MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

	 MFRS 15 deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information to users 
of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising 
from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good 
or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The 
standard replaces MFRS 118 Revenue, MFRS 111 Construction Contracts and related IC Interpretations. 
The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of this Standard.

(b)	 Functional and presentation currency

	 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is the Group’s and the Company’s 
functional currency and all values have been rounded to the nearest RM except when otherwise stated. 

(c)	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

	 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period are set out below:

	 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (Note 4)

	 The Group regularly review the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on factors such 
as business plan and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological developments. Future 
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes 
in the factors mentioned above. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
would increase the recorded depreciation and decrease the value of property, plant and equipment.
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(c)	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)

	 Impairment of investment in subsidiary companies

	 The Company has recognised impairment loss in respect of its investments in subsidiary companies. The 
Company carried out the impairment test based on the estimation of the higher of the value-in-use or the 
fair value less cost to sell of the cash-generating units to which the investments in subsidiary companies 
belong to. Estimating the recoverable amount requires the Company to make an estimate of the expected 
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to determine a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

	 The carrying amount at the end of reporting period for investments in subsidiary companies is disclosed in 
Note 7.

	 Impairment of goodwill on consolidation

	 The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation 
of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use 
amount requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating 
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 
The impairment assessment of goodwill is disclosed in Note 8.

	 Impairment of loans and receivables

	 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
receivable is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers 
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the receivable and default 
or significant delay in payments.

	 Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated 
based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amounts 
at the end of the reporting period for loans and receivables are disclosed in Notes 10 and 11 respectively.

	 Development costs

	 The Group capitalises development costs for a project in accordance with the accounting policy. Initial 
capitalisation of development costs is based on management’s judgement that technological and economic 
feasibility is confirmed, usually when a product development project has reached a defined milestone 
according to an established project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalised, 
management makes assumptions regarding the expected future cash generations of the project, discount 
rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. 

	 The carrying amount at the end of reporting period for product development expenditure is disclosed in 
Note 6.

	 Income taxes

	 Judgment is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and 
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.

	 The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which 
such determination is made. Details of income tax expense are disclosed in Note 25.
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(c)	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)

	 Contingent liabilities

	 Determination of the treatment of contingent liabilities is based on management’s view of the expected 
outcome of the contingencies after consulting legal counsel for litigation cases and internal and external 
experts to the Group, for matters in the ordinary course of business. 

	 Fair value of financial instruments

	 Management uses valuation techniques in measuring the fair value of financial instruments where active 
market quotes are not available. Details of the assumptions used are given in the Note 31(d) regarding 
financial assets and liabilities. In applying the valuation techniques management makes maximum use of 
market inputs, and uses estimates and assumptions that are, as far as possible, consistent with observable 
data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where applicable data is not observable, 
management uses its best estimate about the assumptions that market participants would make. These 
estimates may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the end 
of the reporting period.

3.	S ignificant Accounting Policies

	 The Group and the Company apply the significant accounting policies set out below, consistently throughout all 
periods presented in the financial statements unless otherwise stated. 

(a)	 Basic of consolidation

(i)	 Subsidiary companies

	 Subsidiary companies are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. Subsidiary companies are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

	 The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

	 Acquisition-related costs are expensed off in profit or loss as incurred.

	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss.

	 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an 
asset or liability is recognised in accordance with MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement either in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is 
classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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3.	S ignificant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(a)	 Basic of consolidation (Cont’d)

(i)	 Subsidiary companies (Cont’d)

	 Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between 
Group co mpanies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are eliminated only if there is no indication of 
impairment. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiary companies have been changed to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

	 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies are stated at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between 
net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts are recognised in profit or loss. Where an indication 
of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount. The policy of recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in 
accordance with Note 3(h)(i).

(ii)	 Change in ownership interests in subsidiary companies without change of control

	 Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions - that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference 
between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value 
of net assets of the subsidiary company is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(iii)	 Disposal of subsidiary companies

	 If the Group loses control of a subsidiary company, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary company, 
including any goodwill, and non-controlling interests are derecognised at their carrying value on the 
date that control is lost. Any remaining investment in the entity is recognised at fair value. The difference 
between the fair value of consideration received and the amounts derecognised and the remaining 
fair value of the investment is recognised as a gain or loss on disposal in profit or loss. Any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as 
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

(iv)	 Goodwill on consolidation

	 The excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total consideration 
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value is 
less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary company acquired (ie. a bargain purchase), 
the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 

	 Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is not amortised but instead, it is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequent when 
there is objective evidence that the carrying amount may be impaired. The policy of recognition and 
measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3(h)(i).

	
(b)	 Foreign currency translation

	 Transactions in foreign currency are recorded in the functional currency of the respective Group entities 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on that date. 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3.	S ignificant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
	

(b)	 Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)

	 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the 
end of the reporting period are included in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising on monetary 
items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operation. These are initially taken directly to 
the foreign currency translation reserve within equity until the disposal of the foreign operations, at which 
time they are recognised in profit or loss. Exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of 
the Company’s net investment in foreign operation are recognised in profit or loss in the Company’s financial 
statements or the individual financial statements of the foreign operation, as appropriate.

	 Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in 
profit or loss for the reporting period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary 
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. Exchange 
differences arising from such non-monetary items are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

	
(c)	 Property, plant and equipment

	 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. The policy of recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 
3(h)(i).

(i)	 Recognition and measurement

	 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets and any 
other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, cost 
of replacing component parts of the assets, and the present value of the expected cost for the 
decommissioning of the assets after their use. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the 
cost of materials and direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance 
with the accounting policy on borrowing costs. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.

	 The cost of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based 
on fair value at acquisition date. The fair value of property is the estimated amount for which a property 
could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s 
length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently 
and without compulsion. The fair value of other items of plant and equipment is based on the quoted 
market prices for similar items.

 
	 When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they 

are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

	 Property, plant and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are determined as the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the assets and are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii)	 Subsequent costs

	 The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred.
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(c)	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

(iii)	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the profit or loss on straight line basis 
to write off the cost of each asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life. 

	 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated based on the estimated useful lives of the assets as 
follows:

Freehold office buildings	 2%
Furniture and fittings	 20%
Office equipment	 20%
Computers	 50%
Hardware appliances	 20%
Motor vehicles	 20%
Renovation	 50%

	 The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous 
estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in 
the property, plant and equipment.

(d)	 Leases

	 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 
specific asset or asset or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly 
specific in an arrangement. 

(i)	 Finance lease

	 Leases in terms of which the Group or the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership are classified as finance lease. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at 
an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy 
applicable to that asset. 

	 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as finance costs in the profit or loss. Contingent lease 
payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the 
lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

	 Leasehold land which in substance is a finance lease is classified as a property, plant and equipment. 

(ii)	 Operating lease

	 Leases, where the Group or the Company does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as operating leases and, except for property interest held under operating 
lease, the leased assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position. Property interest 
held under an operating lease, which is held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both, 
is classified as investment property.
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(d)	 Leases (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Operating lease (Cont’d)

	 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of 
the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss 
in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

	 Leasehold land which in substance is an operating lease is classified as prepaid land lease payments. 

(e)	 Investment properties

	 Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for 
both. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
values of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss in the reporting period in which they arise. 
The fair values are determined by external professional valuers with sufficient experience with respect to 
both the location and the nature of the investment property and supported by market evidence.

	 Investment properties are derecognised when either they are disposed of or when they are permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss on the 
retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in the profit or loss in the reporting period of 
retirement or disposal.

	 When an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a change in 
its use, any difference arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of the item immediately 
prior to transfer and its fair value is recognised directly in equity as a revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised in profit 
or loss. Upon disposal of an investment property, any surplus previously recorded in equity is transferred 
to retained earnings, the transfer is not made through profit or loss.

	 When an item of inventory or property development is transferred to investment property following a change 
in its use, any difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and its carrying amount 
immediately prior to the transfer is recognised in profit or loss.

	 When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment or inventories, 
its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

(f)	 Intangible assets

(i)	 Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development costs

	 Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual project are 
recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate:

•	 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be available for 
use or sale;

•	  its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset;
•	  how the asset will generate future economic benefits;
•	  the availability of resources to complete; and
• 	 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development.
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(f)	 Intangible assets (Cont’d)

(i)	 Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development costs (Cont’d)

	 The amount initially recognised for internally–generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where 
no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

	 Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset 
begins when development is complete and the asset is available for use. Amortisation is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation 
methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

(ii)	 Intangible assets acquired separately

	 Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for 
on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

(iii)	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are 
initially recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as 
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

(iv)	 Derecognition of intangible assets

	 An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

	 The policy of recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3(h)(i).

(g)	 Financial assets

	 Financial assets are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

	 Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 The Group and the Company classify their financial assets depends on the purpose for which the financial 
assets were acquired at initial recognition, into loans and receivables.
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(g)	 Financial assets (Cont’d)

	 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those maturing later than 12 
months after the end of the reporting period which are classified as non-current assets.

	 After initial recognition, financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less impairment losses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

	 Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets

	 Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular 
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on the trade date i.e. the date 
that the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset. 

	 Derecognition

	 A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset 
has expired or has been transferred and the Group and the Company have transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount and the sum of consideration received and any cumulative gains or loss that had been recognised 
in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

(h)	 Impairment of assets

(i)	 Non-financial assets

	 The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (except for inventories) are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have 
indefinite useful lives, or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each 
period at the same time.

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other 
assets or cash-generating units. Subject to operating segment ceiling test, for the purpose of goodwill 
impairment testing, cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so 
that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is 
monitored for internal reporting purposes. The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the 
purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

	 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value-in-use and its fair 
value less costs of disposal. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating unit.

	 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, unless the asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which such impairment loss is recognised directly against any 
revaluation surplus for the asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount 
in the revaluation surplus for that same asset. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to reduce the carrying amounts of 
the other assets in the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) on a pro rata basis.
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(h)	 Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)	 Non-financial assets (Cont’d)

	 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that 
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed 
its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised for asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recognised in the profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

(ii)	 Financial assets 

	 All financial assets, other than those categorised as fair value through profit or loss, investments in 
subsidiary companies, associates and joint ventures, are assessed at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events having an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

	 Financial assets carried at amortised cost

	 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been 
incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the receivable and default or significant delay in payments. For certain categories of 
financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually 
are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. 
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio 
past the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults on receivables.

	 If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Receivables together with 
the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

	 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised in profit or loss, the 
impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed 
what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the 
impairment is reversed. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(i)	 Inventories

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined on the first-in, first-out basis) and net realisable value. 

	 Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the costs necessary to make the sale.
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3.	S ignificant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(j)	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank balances and deposits with banks and highly 
liquid investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the statements 
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and pledged deposits, if 
any.

(k)	 Financial liabilities

	 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into 
and the definition of financial liabilities.

	 Financial liabilities are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

The Group and the Company classify their financial liabilities at initial recognition, into the following categories:

(i)	 Other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

	 The Group’s and the Company’s other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables and loans 
and borrowings.

	 Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

	 Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified 
as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

	 Gains and losses on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

(ii)	 Financial guarantee contracts

	 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specific payment to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specific debtor fails to make payment when due 
in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

	 Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is 
measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.

	 A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and 
the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(l)	 Offsetting of financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there 
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3.	S ignificant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(m)	 Share capital

	 Ordinary shares 

	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the 
Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments. Ordinary shares are 
recorded at the nominal value of shares issued. Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

	 Dividends on ordinary shares are accounted for in equity as appropriation of retained earnings and recognised 
as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

(n)	 Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

	 Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

	 Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the 
obligation is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related 
provision. The relating expense relating to any provision is presented in the statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

(o)	 Revenue

(i)	 Sale of goods

	 Revenue is recognised at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of returns and 
allowances, trade discount and volume rebates. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when 
the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods to the customer, recovery of 
the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated 
reliably, and there is no continuing management involvement with the goods

(ii)	 Rendering of services

	 Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the profit or loss based on the value of services 
performed and invoiced to customers during the period. 

(iii)	 Rental income

	 Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of 
incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on 
a straight-line basis. 

(iv)	 Interest income

	 Interest income is recognised on accruals basis using the effective interest method.
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3.	S ignificant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(p)	 Borrowing costs

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalised as part of the cost of the assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period 
of time to get ready for theirs intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. All 
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the Company incurred in connection with the 
borrowing of funds.

	 The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure 
for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or 
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or 
sale are interrupted or completed.

	 Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

(q)	 Income taxes

	 Tax expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised 
in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly 
in equity or other comprehensive income.

	 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years.

	 Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method for all temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for the temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction which is not a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

	 The measurement of deferred tax is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying 
amount of the assets and liabilities, at the end of the reporting period, except for investment properties 
carried at fair value model. Where investment properties measured using fair value model, the amount of 
deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their 
carrying amounts at the the end of the reporting period unless the property is depreciable and is held with 
the objective to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time, 
rather than through sale. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or 
on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

	 A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised. 
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3.	S ignificant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

(r)	 Employee benefits

(i)	 Short term employee benefits 

	 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and of the Company. Short 
term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services 
are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short 
term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick and medical leave are recognised when 
the absences occur.

	 The expected cost of accumulating compensated absences is measured as additional amount 
expected to be paid as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the end of the 
reporting period.

(ii)	 Defined contribution plans

	 As required by law, companies in Malaysia contributions to the state pension scheme, the Employee 
Provident Fund (“EPF”). Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss as 
incurred. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group and the Company have no further payment 
obligations.

(s)	 Segment reporting

		 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-makers are responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of the operating segments and make overall strategic decisions. The Group’s 
operating segments are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the products and 
services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products 
and serves different markets. 

(t)	 Contingencies

	 Where it is not probable that an inflow or an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 
cannot be estimated reliably, the asset or the obligation is disclosed as a contingent asset or contingent 
liability, unless the probability of inflow or outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, 
are also disclosed as contingent assets or contingent liabilities unless the probability of inflow or outflow of 
economic benefits is remote.
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4.	 Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

		O  ffice		  Motor
		  equipment	C omputers	 vehicles	T otal
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Company
31.12.2014
At 1 October 2013		   48,754 	  291,939 	  251,457 	  592,150 
Additions		   1,325 	  42,360 	  134,219 	  177,904 
Disposal		   – 	  – 	  (251,457)	  (251,457)
Written off		   (50,079)	  (291,941)	  – 	  (342,020)

At 31 December 2014		   – 	  42,358 	  134,219 	  176,577 

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2013		   14,070 	  266,072 	  251,456 	  531,598 
Charge for the financial period	  	 3,751 	  29,562 	  11,185 	  44,498 
Disposal		   – 	  – 	  (251,456)	  (251,456)
Written off		   (17,821)	  (291,195)	  – 	  (309,016)

At 31 December 2014		   – 	  4,439 	  11,185 	  15,624 

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2014		   – 	  37,919 	  123,034 	  160,953 

30.9.2013
At 1 October 2012		   48,754 	  291,661 	  251,457 	  591,872 
Addition		   – 	  278 	  – 	  278

 At 30 September 2013		  48,754 	  291,939 	  251,457 	  592,150 

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2012		   9,155 	  187,270 	  251,456 	  447,881 
Charge for the financial year		   4,915 	  78,802 	  – 	  83,717 

At 30 September 2013		   14,070 	  266,072 	  251,456 	  531,598 

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2013		   34,684 	  25,867 	  1 	  60,552 
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4.	 Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

(a)	 The aggregate additional cost for the property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company 
during the financial period/year acquired under finance lease financing and cash payments are as follows:

	 Group	C ompany 	
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

			R   M	R M	R M	R M

Aggregate costs		   395,152 	  76,685 	  177,904 	  278 
Less: Finance lease financing 	  (120,000)	 – 	  (120,000)	 –

Cash payments		   275,152 	  76,685 	  57,904 	  278

(b)	 Assets held under finance leases

	 At 31 December 2014, the net carrying amount of leased motor vehicle of the Group and of the Company 
was RM123,034 and RM123,034 (30.9.2013: RMNil and RMNil) respectively.

5.	I nvestment Properties

		  Group
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

Freehold land and building

Cost
At 1 October 				     2,032,000 	  – 
Transferred from property, plant and equipment			   – 	  2,032,000

At 31 December/30 September	  			   2,032,000 	  2,032,000 

Less: Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 				     653,120 	 – 
Transferred from property, plant and equipment			   – 	  612,480 
Charge for the financial period/year			    50,800 	  40,640

At 31 December/30 September	  			   703,920 	  653,120 

Carrying amount
At 31 December/30 September	  			   1,328,080 	  1,378,880 

Fair value of investment properties
At 31 December/30 September				     4,030,000 	  3,887,580 
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5.	I nvestment Properties (Cont’d)

(a)	 Fair value basis of investment properties

	 The fair value of the Group’s investment property was arrived at by reference to market indication of 
transaction prices for similar properties.

(b)	 Income and expenses recognised in profit or loss

	 The following are recognised in profit or loss in respect of investment properties: 

		  Group
				    1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
				    to	 to
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

	 Rental income				     139,200	 122,700

6.	 Product Development Expenditure

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Cost
At 1 October 		   8,591,267 	  8,591,267 	  6,223,063 	  6,223,063 
Additions		   236,297 	  – 	  – 	  – 
Written off		   (8,827,564)	  – 	  (6,223,063)	  –

At 31 December/30 September		   – 	  8,591,267 	  – 	  6,223,063 

Less: Accumulated amortisation
At 1 October 		   5,443,848 	  4,598,808 	  3,211,865 	  2,589,559 
Amortisation during the 				  
  financial period/year		   574,497 	  845,040 	  466,730 	  622,306 
Written off		   (6,018,345)	  – 	  (3,678,595)	  – 

At 31 December/30 September		   – 	  5,443,848 	  – 	  3,211,865 

Less: Accumulated impairment
At 1 October 		   284,422 	  284,422 	  284,422 	  284,422 
Written off		   (284,422)	  – 	  (284,422)	  –

At 31 December/30 September		   – 	  284,422 	  – 	  284,422 

Carrying amount
At 31 December/30 September		   – 	  2,862,997 	  – 	  2,726,776 
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7.	I nvestment in Subsidiary Companies 

		C  ompany	
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
				R    M	R M
		

In Malaysia		
Unquoted shares, at cost				     9,506,504 	  8,281,500

	 Details of subsidiary companies are as follows:

Name of company Country of 
incorporation 

 Equity interest Principal activities
31.12.2014 30.9.2013

 % %

Direct holding:

Extol Corporation Sdn. Bhd.
  (formerly known as Extol
  Corporation (M) Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia 100 100 Sales and research and
  development security
  technology, security
  maintenance and
   professional security
   services and training.

Extol Ventures
  Sdn. Bhd.

 Malaysia 100 100 Investment holding,
  trading of computer
  hardware, software
  related equipment 
  and software
  development.

Extol International Sdn. Bhd.
  (formerly known as Innodium
  Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia 100 – Software development
  and trading in software
  products.

AppAsia Tech Sdn. Bhd.
  (formerly known as Extol IP 
  Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia 100  – Information Technology
  Systems and Applications
  development related 
  business.

AppAsia Studio Sdn. Bhd.
  (formerly known as Extol
    Apps Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia 100 – Information Technology
  Systems and Applications
  development related 
  business.

Indirect holding:

Indirect holding: Subsidiary 
  company of Extol Ventures
  Sdn. Bhd.

Extol International Sdn. Bhd.
  (formerly known as Innodium
  Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia –  100 Software development
  and trading in
  software products.
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7.	I nvestment in Subsidiary Companies (Cont’d)

(a)	 Acquisition of subsidiary companies

(i)	 On 30 September 2014, the Company had acquired two (2) ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in 
AppAsia Tech Sdn. Bhd. (“AppAsia Tech”) (formerly known as Extol IP Sdn. Bhd.) from Toh Hong Chye 
and Wong Ngai Peow at a total consideration of RM2.00 (“Acquisition”). Following the Acquisition, 
AppAsia Tech became a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company.

(ii)	 On 30 September 2014, the Company had acquired two (2) ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in 
AppAsia Studio Sdn. Bhd. (“AppAsia Studio”) (formerly known as Extol Apps Sdn. Bhd.) from Toh 
Hong Chye and Wong Ngai Peow at a total consideration of RM2.00 (“Acquisition”). Following the 
Acquisition, AppAsia Studio became a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company.

	 Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of subsidiary companies

						       RM 
	
Purchase consideration settled in cash				     4 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired				     4

						       – 

	 Impact of the acquisition on the Statements of Comprehensive Income

	 From the date of acquisition, acquired subsidiary companies have contributed RMNil and RM159,643 to 
the Group’s revenue and loss for the financial period respectively. If the combination had taken place at the 
beginning of the financial period, the Group’s revenue and profit for the financial period from their operations 
would have been RMNil and RM159,643 respectively.

	 There was no acquisition in the previous financial year.

(b)	 Internal reorganisation

	 The Company or AppAsia has embarked on an internal reorganisation exercise which involved a wholly-
owned subsidiary company of the Company i.e. Extol International Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Innodium 
Sdn. Bhd.) (“Extol International”). 

	 The internal reorganisation effective on 30 September 2014, involved the transfer of the entire issued and 
paid up share capital in Extol International held by Extol Ventures Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary 
company of the Company to Appasia, at the total consideration of RM1,225,000. Consequently, Extol 
International became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary company of AppAsia.

	 There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the subsidiary companies to transfer funds to the Group in 
the form of cash dividends or repayment of loans and advances. 
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8.	 Goodwill on Consolidation

		  Group
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

At 1 October 				     3,541,003 	  3,541,003 
Written off				     (3,541,003)	 –

At 31 December/30 September				    –	  3,541,003 

	 During the financial period, as a result of unexpected poor performance in the business unit providing “Managed 
Security Solutions” (“MSS”) and “Secured Enterprise Solutions” (“SES”), the Group carried out a review of the 
recoverable of the unit.

	 The recoverable amount of MSS & SES was based on its value-in-use as determined by the discounting cash 
flow to be generated by the unit. The carrying amount of the unit of RM3,541,003 was determined to be higher 
than its recoverable amount and the goodwill on consolidation amounting to RM3,541,003 was fully written off. 
The amount written off is recorded within other expenses in the statements of comprehensive income.

	 In the previous financial year, goodwill on consolidation is stated at cost and reviewed for impairment annually. 
Goodwill on consolidation has been allocated for impairment testing to the Group’s cash generating unit (“CGU”). 
The Group assessed the recoverable amount of the goodwill on consolidation, and determined that the goodwill on 
consolidation is not impaired. The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations 
using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a period of ten years.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are as follows:

					     30.9.2013
						      %

Growth					     5 - 20
Discount rate					     10

	 Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on the past performance and its expectations of 
market development. The growth rate used is based on past years’ achievement and the expected future contracts 
to be secured. The discount rate used reflects the current market assessment of the risks specific to each CGU.

9.	I nventories

		  Group
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

At cost
Software license and hardware appliances			    –	  1,107,033 

Recognised in profit or loss:	
Inventories written off				     663,267 	  – 
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10.	T rade Receivables

		  Group
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

Trade receivables				     1,491,208 	  2,794,332 
Less: Acccumulated impairment losses			    (91,170)	  –

	  				    1,400,038 	  2,794,332 

	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 60 days (30.9.2013: 60 days) term. They are 
recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

	 The Group’s credit exposures are concentrated mainly on 2 (30.9.2013: 3) debtors, which accounted for 87% 
(30.9.2013: 76%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2014.

	 Movements in allowance for impairment losses (individually impaired) of trade receivables are as follows:

		  Group
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

At 1 October				    –	  –
Impairment losses recognised	  			   91,170 	  –

At 31 December/30 September	  			   91,170 	  –

	 Analysis of the trade receivables ageing as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

	
		  Group
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

Neither past due nor impaired				     450,301 	  552,722 
Past due not impaired:
  Less than 30 days				    – 	  302,800 
  131 to 60 days				     150,773 	  1,361,797 
  More than 60 days				     798,964 	  577,013
 
					      949,737 	  2,241,610

					      1,400,038 	  2,794,332 
Impaired				     91,170 	  –

					      1,491,208 	  2,794,332 

	 Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

	 Trade receivables that neither past due nor impaired are debtors with good payment records with the Group. 
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10.	T rade Receivables (Cont’d)

	 Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired

	 As at 31 December 2014, trade receivables of RM949,737 (30.9.2013: RM2,241,610) were past due but not 
impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers from whom there is no recent history of default. 

	 Trade receivables that are impaired

	 The trade receivables of the Group that are individually assessed to be impaired amounting to RM91,170 (30.9.2013: 
RMNil), related to a customer that are in financial difficulties, have defaulted on payments. These balances are 
expected to be recovered through the debts recovery process.

The currency exposure profiles of trade receivables are as follows:

		  Group
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

United States Dollar				    –	  480,003 

11.	O ther Receivables 

	  Group 	  Company 
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M
				  

Other receivables		  –	  9,700 	 –	  3,000 
Deposits		   217,567 	  318,477 	  84,735 	  77,644 
Prepayments		   582,489 	  426,264 	  353,285 	  29,442

			    800,056 	  754,441 	  438,020 	  110,086 

12.	Am ount Due from/(to) Subsidiary Companies 

	 The amounts due from/(to) subsidiary companies are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable upon demand. 
The amounts arose from trade and non-trade transactions.

13.	 Fixed Deposits with Licensed Banks

	 The fixed deposits with licensed banks are pledged to licensed banks for bank guarantee granted to a subsidiary 
company.

	 The interest rate and maturities of deposits of the Group at the end of the reporting period are 3.15% (30.9.2013: 
2.90%) and 30 days (30.9.2013: 30 days) respectively.
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14.	C ash and Bank Balances

	 The currency exposure profiles of cash and bank balances are as follows:
				  
	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

				  
United States Dollar		   680,988 	  1,436,904 	  103,549 	  8,362 
Euro Dollar		  –	  137,192 	 –	 –
British Pound Sterling		   –	  90,732 	 –	 –

15.	S hare Capital

		  Group and Company
	  Number of Shares	A mount
	  	 31.12.2014 	  30.9.2013 	  31.12.2014 	  30.9.2013 

			    Units 	  Units 	  RM 	  RM 
				  
Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
				  
Authorised
At 1 October/31 December/ 
  30 September		   1,000,000,000 	  1,000,000,000 	  100,000,000 	  100,000,000 

Issued and fully paid
At 1 October 		   126,324,000 	  126,324,000 	  12,632,400 	  12,632,400 
Issued during the financial				  
  period/year		   12,632,400 	  –	  1,263,240 	 –

At 31 December/30 September	  	 138,956,400 	  126,324,000 	  13,895,640 	  12,632,400

	 During the current financial period, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from 126,324,000 
to 138,956,400 through the issuance of 12,632,400 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each pursuant to private placement 
at an issue price of RM0.105 per placement share.

	 The new ordinary shares issued during the financial period rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary 
shares of the Company. 

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 
shares carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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16.	S hare Premium

		   Group and Company
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M
		
At 1 October 				     4,167,884 	  4,167,884 
Add: Premium arises from private placement	  		  63,162 	  – 
Less: Share issuance expenses	  			   (149,200)	  –

At 31 December/30 September	  			   4,081,846 	  4,167,884 

	 Share premium comprises the premium paid on subscription of shares in the Company over and above the par 
value of the shares. 

	 The share premium is not distributable by way of cash dividends and may be utilised in the manner set out in 
Section 60(3) of the Companies Act, 1965.

17.	 Finance Lease Liability

		   Group and Company
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

Minimum lease payments		
Within one year				     43,188 	  –
Later than one year and not later than two years	  		  43,188 	 –
Later than two years and not later than five years	  		  35,966 	  –

	  				    122,342 	 –
Less: Future finance charges				    (8,523)	 –

Present value of minimum lease payments			    113,819 	 – 

Present value of minimum lease payments		
Within one year				     38,289 	  – 
Later than one year and not later than two years	  		  40,352 	  –
Later than two years and not later than five years	  		  35,178 	 –

					      113,819 	 –

Analysed as:
Repayable within twelve months	  			   38,289 	 –
Repayable after twelve months	  			   75,530 	  –

	  				    113,819 	  – 

The finance lease liability interest is charged at a rate of 2.65% (30.9.2013: Nil) per annum.
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18.	B ank Borrowing

		   Group and Company
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

Non-Current Liability
Secured
Term loan - Islamic financing	  			   – 	  500,000 

Current Liability
Secured
Term loan - Islamic financing				     500,000 	  500,000

					      500,000 	  1,000,000 

	 In previous financial year, the Group secured a project financing facility in accordance with the financing procedure 
under the Syariah concept of Murabahah from Malaysia Debt Ventures Berhad. The facility is repayable by two 
instalments in which the first instalment of RM500,000 will be due twelve months following the first disbursement. 
The balance of RM500,000 will be due twenty four months following the first disbursement. Based on the agreement, 
the total asset sell price payable by the subsidiary company is RM1,120,000.

	 The securities of the facility area as follows:

(i)	 Debentures creating a first fixed and floating charge over a subsidiary company’s assets, present and future, 
wheresoever situated; and

(ii)	 Corporate Guarantee for the whole amount under the Facility from Holding Company, AppAsia Berhad 
(formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad).

19.	 Deferred Tax Liabilities

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

At 1 October		   113,549 	  253,727 	 –	 – 
Recognised in profit or loss		   (113,549)	  (140,178)	 – 	 –

At 31 December/30 September		  – 	  113,549 	 –	 –

	 The net deferred tax liability and assets shown on the statements of financial position after appropriate offsetting 
are as follows:

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Deferred tax liability		   35,020 	  123,549 	  25,100 	  9,560 
Deferred tax assets		   (35,020)	  (10,090)	  (25,100)	  (9,560)

			   – 	  113,459 	  – 	  – 
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19.	 Deferred Tax Liabilities (Cont’d)

	 The components and movements of the deferred tax liability and assets prior to offsetting are as follows: 

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Deferred tax liability
Accelerated capital allowances	  	 35,020 	  123,549 	  25,100 	  9,560 

Deferred tax assets
Unutilised capital allowancs		   15,230 	  2,050 	  5,310 	  1,520 
Unutilised tax losses		   19,790 	  8,040 	  19,790 	  8,040

			    35,020 	  10,090 	  25,100 	  9,560 

	 The deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following temporary differences due to 
uncertainty of its recoverability:

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

Decelerated capital allowances		   9,820 	 –	  –	  –
Unutilised capital allowances		   357,050 	  161,500 	  –	 –
Unutilised tax losses		   7,457,040 	  2,873,360 	  4,350,220 	  2,092,960

			    7,823,910 	  3,034,860 	  4,350,220 	  2,092,960 

	 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items as they may not have sufficient taxable 
profits to be used to offset or they have arisen in subsidiary companies that have a recent history of losses. 

20.	T rade Payables

	 The trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms received by the Group range from 
30 to 60 days (30.9.2013: 30 to 60 days).

	 The currency exposure profile of trade payables are as follows:

		  Group
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

United States Dollar				    – 	  597,645 
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21.	O ther Payables
	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Other payables		   259,704 	  230,686 	  201,721 	  195,902 
Accruals		   50,127 	  75,576 	  17,000 	  16,500 
Deposits received		   20,800 	 –	 – 	  –

			    330,631 	  306,262 	  218,721 	  212,402 

22.	R evenue

	 These represent billings for net invoiced value of goods sold and services rendered.

23.	 Finance Costs

	 Group		C  ompany
		  1.10.2013	 1.10.2012	 1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
		  to	 to	 to	 to
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Interest expense on:				  
Banker’s acceptance		  –	  13,943 	 –	  –
Finance lease		   1,017 	  696 	  1,017 	  – 
Term loan		   69,973 	  20,000 	 –	 –

			    70,990 	  34,639 	  1,017 	 –
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24.	L oss before Taxation

	 Group		C  ompany
		  1.10.2013	 1.10.2012	 1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
		  to	 to	 to	 to
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Amortisation of product
  development expenditures		  574,497 	  845,040 	  466,730 	  622,306 
Auditors’ remuneration:
  - statutory		   37,000 	  35,000 	  17,000 	  16,500 
  - others		   3,000 	  3,000 	  3,000 	  3,000 
Bad debts written off		   391,987 	  – 	  21,276 	  – 
Non-Executive Directors
  remuneration
  - Fees		   175,935 	  – 	  175,935 	  – 
Depreciation of investment
  properties		   50,800 	  40,640 	  – 	  – 
Depreciation of property,
  plant and equipment		   235,009 	  557,124 	  44,498 	  83,717 
Goodwill written off		   3,541,003 	  – 	  – 	  – 
Impairment on trade
  receivables		   91,170 	  – 	  – 	  – 
Incorporation expenses		   6,000 	  – 	  – 	  – 
Inventories written off		   663,267 	  – 	  – 	  – 
Product development 
  expenditure written off		   2,524,797 	  – 	  2,260,046 	  – 
Property, plant and equipment 
  written off	  	 418,725 	  – 	  33,004 	  – 
Rental of equipment		   542,956 	  – 	  542,956 	  – 
Rental of premises		   711,188 	  614,250 	  95,862 	  304,701 
Gain on disposal of property,
  plant and equipment 		   (32,999)	  – 	  (32,999)	  – 
(Gain)/Loss in foreign exchange
  - realised		   (1,086)	  20,035 	  (18,673)	 – 
  - unrealised		   (9,826)	  – 	  – 	  – 
Interest income		   (102,588)	  (131,829)	  (57,580)	  (88,706)
Rental income from
  investment properties		   (139,200)	  (122,700)	  – 	  – 



76 AppAsia Berhad ► www.AppAsia.com

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[continued]

25.	T axation

	 Group		C  ompany
		  1.10.2013	 1.10.2012	 1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
		  to	 to	 to	 to
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Tax expenses recognised
  in profit or loss
  Current tax provision		   – 	  84,874 	  – 	  – 
  (Over)/Under provision
    in prior years		   (22,406)	  (5,464)	  – 	  420

			    (22,406)	  79,410 	  – 	  420 

Deferred tax:
Relating to reversal of 
  temporary differences		   (93,815)	  (140,178)	  – 	  – 
Over provision in prior years		   (19,734)	  – 	  – 	  –

			    (113,549)	  (140,178)	  – 	  – 

			    (135,955)	  (60,768)	  – 	  420 

	 Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (30.9.2013: 25%) of the estimated assessable 
profits for the financial period/year. Taxation for other jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective 
jurisdictions.

	 A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to income 
tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:
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25.	T axation (Cont’d)

	 Group		C  ompany
		  1.10.2013	 1.10.2012	 1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
		  to	 to	 to	 to
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Loss before taxation		   (13,337,367)	  (1,417,221)	  (5,575,123)	  (1,031,337)

At Malaysian statutory tax 
  rate of 25% (2013: 25%)		   (3,334,340)	  (354,305)	  (1,393,780)	  (257,834)
Income not subject to tax		   (2,460)	  (20,635)	  – 	  – 
Deductible capital expenditure		   – 	  14,667 	  – 	  – 
Expenses not deductible for 
  tax purposes		   2,045,725 	  304,969 	  829,470 	  257,834 
Deferred tax assets not
  recognised		   1,208,430 	  – 	  564,310 	  – 
Utilisation of previously
  unrecognised tax losses		   (11,170)	  – 	  – 	  – 
(Over)/Under provision of
  taxation in prior years		   (22,406)	  (5,464)	  – 	  420 
Over provision of deferred 
  tax in prior year		   (19,734)	  – 	  – 	  –

Tax expense for the 
  financial period/year		   (135,955)	  (60,768)	  – 	  420 

Income tax savings arising from tax losses:

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Income tax savings arising from
  utilisation of prior year losses
  previously not recognised	  	 11,170 	 – 	 –	 –

	 The Group and the Company have the following estimated unutilised capital allowances and unutilised tax losses 
available for carry forward to set-off against future taxable profits. The said amounts are subject to approval by 
the tax authorities.

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Unutilised capital allowances	  	 417,970 	  169,700 	  21,240 	  6,080 
Unutilised tax losses	  	 7,536,200 	  2,905,520 	  4,429,380 	  2,125,120

			    7,954,170 	  3,075,220 	  4,450,620 	  2,131,200 
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26.	L oss per Share

(a)	 Basic loss per share

	 The basic loss per share are calculated based on the consolidated loss for the financial period/year attributable 
to the owners of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial 
period/year as follows: 

		  Group	
				    1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
				    to	 to
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
				R    M	R M

		
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders	  		  (13,201,412)	  (1,356,453)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
  in issue (in shares)				    135,667,000 	  126,324,000 

Basic loss per share (in sen)				    (9.73)	  (1.07)

(b)	 Diluted loss per share

	 The Group and the Company have no dilution in their loss per ordinary share as there are no dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares 
since the end of the financial period and before the authorisation of these financial statements except as 
disclosed in Note 33(a)(i) and 33(a)(v). 

27.	S taff Costs

	 Group		C  ompany
		  1.10.2013	 1.10.2012	 1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
		  to	 to	 to	 to
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Fee			    5,250 	  78,000 	  5,250 	  78,000 
Salaries and allowances		   3,235,210 	  2,611,320 	  1,659,192 	  1,571,445 
Defined contribution plans		   357,390 	  303,832 	  176,373 	  141,052 
Social security costs		   26,166 	  22,750 	  11,110 	  10,683 
Other benefits		   37,764 	 –	  21,025 	 –

			    3,661,780 	  3,015,902 	  1,872,950 	  1,801,180
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27.	S taff Costs (Cont’d)

	 Included in staff costs is aggregate amount of remuneration received and receivable by the Executive Directors 
of the Company and of the subsidiary companies during the financial period/year as below: 

	 Group		C  ompany
		  1.10.2013	 1.10.2012	 1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
		  to	 to	 to	 to
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Executive Directors				  
Fee			    5,250 	  78,000 	  5,250 	  78,000 
Salaries and allowances		   602,258 	  293,200 	  522,258 	  253,200 
Defined contribution plans		   72,272 	  28,800 	  62,672 	  28,800 
Social security costs		   1,343 	  620 	  930 	  620

 			    681,123 	  400,620 	  591,110 	  360,620

28.	Op erating Lease Commitment - As Lessee

The future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are: 
		
		  Group
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013

					R     M	R M

Within one year				     723,941 	  627,186 
Later than one year but not later than two years	  		  904,926 	  141,390

					      1,628,867 	  768,576 

29.	R elated Party Disclosures

(a)	 Identifying of related parties

	 For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group or to the 
Company if the Group and the Company have the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise 
significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the 
Group and the Company and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. 
Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

	 Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. 
The key management personnel include all the Directors of the Group and certain members of senior 
management of the Group.

	 The Group has related party relationship with its subsidiary companies and key management personnel.
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29.	R elated Party Disclosures (Cont’d)

(b)	 In addition to related party balances disclosed in Note 12, the significant related party transaction of the 
Group and of the Company are as follows:

				    1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
				    to	 to
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
				R    M	R M

Group
Transactions with a Director		
Rental of premises paid/payable			    90,720 	  –
		
Transactions with a company in
  which a Director has substantial
  financial interest		
Provision of services				     45,000 	 – 
		
Company
Transactions with subsidiary companies		
Royalties income received/receivable	  		  –	  187,978 
Sales	 				    5,013,029 	  2,398,720 
Purchases				     4,375,934 	 – 

(c)	 Compensation of key management personnel

	 Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel are as follows: 

	 Group		C  ompany
		  1.10.2013	 1.10.2012	 1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
		  to	 to	 to	 to
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Salaries, fees and other				  
  emoluments		   608,851 	  371,820 	  528,438 	  331,820 
Defined contributions plan		   72,272 	  28,800 	  62,672 	  28,800 

			    681,123 	  400,620 	  591,110 	  360,620 
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30.	S egment Information

	 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business unit based on their products and services 
provided, as follows:

Managed Security Solutions (“MSS”) ICT security products and solutions such as hardware and 
software security solutions and services, consultancy, forensic 
research and training

Secured Enterprise Solutions (“SES”) Security-enhanced enterprise solutions

Others Trading in software products

	 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or 
loss and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

	 Transactions between segments are carried out on agreed terms between both parties. The effects of such inter-
segment transactions are eliminated on consolidation. The measurement basis and classification are consistent 
with those adopted in the previous financial year.

	 Information about segment assets and liabilities are neither included in the internal management reports nor 
provided regularly to the management. Hence, no disclosures are made on segment assets and liabilities.

						      Per
						       consolidated 
						       financial  
		   MSS 	  SES 	  Others 	  Eliminations 	  statements 
	  	R M 	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 

31.12.2014
Revenue
External customers	  6,723,647 	  8,139,316 	  64,517 	  – 	  14,927,480 
Inter segment	  4,819,251 	  4,524,995 	  44,717 	  (9,388,963)	  –

Total revenue	  11,542,898 	  12,664,311 	  109,234 	  (9,388,963)	  14,927,480 

Segment results
Interest income	  97,308 	  4,976 	  304 	  – 	  102,588 
Finance costs	  (70,990)	  – 	  – 	  – 	  (70,990)
Depreciation and
  amortisation	  (858,111)	  (708)	  (1,487)	  – 	  (860,306)
Other non-cash item	  (7,314,205)	  6,927 	  (280,846)	  – 	  (7,588,124)
Segments (loss)
  /profit before taxation	  (12,392,168)	  40,110 	  (985,309)	  – 	  (13,337,367)

Assets
Addition to property,
  plant and equipment	  346,458 	  – 	  48,694 	  – 	  395,152 
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30.	S egment Information (Cont’d)

						      Per
						       consolidated 
						       financial  
		   MSS 	  SES 	  Others 	  Eliminations 	  statements 
	  	R M 	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 

30.9.2013
Revenue
External customers	  12,790,218 	  719,000 	  – 	  – 	  13,509,218 
Inter segment	  2,586,698 	  – 	  – 	  (2,586,698)	  – 

Total revenue	  15,376,916 	  719,000 	  – 	  (2,586,698)	  13,509,218 

Segment results
Interest income	  131,829 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  131,829 
Finance costs	  (34,639)	  – 	  – 	  – 	  (34,639)
Depreciation and
  amortisation	  (1,442,804)	  – 	  – 	  – 	  (1,442,804)
Segments loss
  before taxation	  (1,169,221)	  (248,000)	  – 	  – 	  (1,417,221)

Assets
Addition to property,
  plant and equipment	  76,685 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  76,685 

(a)	 Eliminations

	 Current taxes and deferred taxes are not allocated to those segments as they are managed on a group 
basis.

	 Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

(b)	 Other non-cash income/(expense) consist of the following items as presented in the respective notes to 
financial statements:

				    1.10.2013	 1.10.2012
				    to	 to
				    31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
				R    M	R M

Bad debts written off				     (391,987)	 – 
Goodwill written off				     (3,541,003)	 –
Impairment on trade receivables			    (91,170)	 – 
Inventories written off				     (663,267)	 – 
Product development expenditure written off	  		  (2,524,797)	 – 
Property, plant and equipment written off	  		  (418,725)	 –
Gain on property, plant and equipment	  		  32,999 	 – 
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange			    9,826 	 –

					      (7,588,124)	  – 

 (c)	 Geographic information 

	 No disclosure on geographical segment information as the Group operates predominantly in Malaysia. 
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31.	 Financial Instruments

(a)	 Classification of financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised 
cost. The principal accounting policies in Note 3 describe how the classes of financial instruments are 
measured, and how income and expense, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. 

	 The following table analyses the financial assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position by the 
class of financial instruments to which they are assigned, and therefore by the measurement basis:

					O     ther
					     financial
				L    oans and	 liabilities at
				    receivables	 amortised cost	T otal
				R    M	R M	R M

Group
31.12.2014
Financial Assets
Trade receivables	  		  1,400,038 	  – 	  1,400,038 
Other receivables			    217,567 	  – 	  217,567 
Fixed deposits with licensed banks		   308,158 	  – 	  308,158 
Cash and bank balances	  		  2,178,816 	  – 	  2,178,816

				     4,104,579 	  – 	  4,104,579 

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables			    – 	  547,606 	  547,606 
Other payables			    – 	  330,631 	  330,631 
Finance lease liability			    – 	  113,819 	  113,819 
Bank borrowing			    – 	  500,000 	  500,000

				     – 	  1,492,056 	  1,492,056 

30.9.2013
Financial Assets
Trade receivables			    2,794,332 		   2,794,332 
Other receivables			    328,177 	  – 	  328,177 
Fixed deposits with licensed banks		   981,213 		   981,213 
Cash and bank balances	  		  5,308,353 	  – 	  5,308,353

				     9,412,075 	  – 	  9,412,075 

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables			    – 	  864,848 	  864,848 
Other payables			    – 	  306,262 	  306,262 
Bank borrowing			    – 	  1,000,000 	  1,000,000

				     – 	  2,171,110 	  2,171,110 
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31.	 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

(a)	 Classification of financial instruments (Cont’d)

					O     ther
					     financial
				L    oans and	 liabilities at
				    receivables	 amortised cost	T otal
				R    M	R M	R M

Company
31.12.2014
Financial Assets
Other receivables			    84,735 	  – 	  84,735 
Amount due from subsidiay companies	  	 4,415,226 	  – 	  4,415,226 
Cash and bank balances			    624,274 	  – 	  624,274 

				     5,124,235 	  – 	  5,124,235 

Financial Liabilities
Other payables			    – 	  218,721 	  218,721 
Amount due to subsidiary companies		   – 	  1,197,000 	  1,197,000 
Finance lease liabilities			    – 	  113,819 	  113,819 

				     – 	  1,529,540 	  1,529,540 

30.9.2013
Financial Assets
Other receivables			    80,644 		   80,644 
Amount due from subsidiary companies		   3,906,448 	  – 	  3,906,448 
Cash and bank balances			   3,140,398 		   3,140,398

				     7,127,490 	  – 	  7,127,490 

Financial Liabilities
Other payables			    – 	  212,402 	  212,402

				     – 	  212,402 	  212,402 

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies
	
	 The Group’s financial risk management policy is to ensure that adequate financial resources are available 

for the development of the Group’s operations whilst managing its financial risks, including credit, liquidity, 
foreign currency and interest rate risks. The Group operates within clearly defined guidelines that are 
approved by the Board and the Group’s policy is not to engage in speculative transactions.

	 The following sections provide details regarding the Group and the Company’s exposure to the 
abovementioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these 
risks. 
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31.	 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)
	

(i)	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises 
principally from its receivables from customers and deposits with banks and financial institutions. 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from advances to subsidiary companies and 
financial guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to a subsidiary company.

	 The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. Management has 
a credit policy in place to control credit risk by dealing with creditworthy counterparties and deposit 
with banks and financial institutions with good credit rating. The exposure to credit risk is monitored 
on an ongoing basis and action will be taken for long outstanding debts.

	 The Company provides unsecured advances to subsidiary companies. It also provides unsecured 
financial guarantees to banks for banking facilities granted to a subsidiary company. The Company 
monitors on an ongoing basis the results of the subsidiary companies and repayments made by the 
subsidiary companies.

	 The carrying amounts of the financial assets recorded on the statements of financial position at 
the end of the reporting period represents the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk except for financial guarantees provided to banks for banking facilities granted to a 
subsidiary company. The Company’s maximum exposure in this respect is RM500,000 (30.9.2013: 
RM1,000,000), representing the outstanding banking facilities of the subsidiary companies as at the 
end of the reporting period. There was no indication that the subsidiary company would default on 
repayment as at the end of the reporting period. 

	 The Group’s has no significant concentration to credit risk except as disclosed in Note 10. The 
Company has no significant concentration of credits risks except for advances to its subsidiary 
companies where risks of default have been assessed to be low.

(ii)	 Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its 
financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises 
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. 

	 The Group’s and the Company’s funding requirements and liquidity risk are managed with the objective 
of meeting business obligations on a timely basis. The Group finances its liquidity through internally 
generated cash flows and minimises liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines available.
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31.	 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

(c)	 Market risks

(i)	 Foreign currency risk

	 The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in currencies 
other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this 
risk are primarily United States Dollar (USD), Euro Dollar (Euro) and Britain Pound Sterling (GBP).

	 The Group has not entered into any derivative instruments for hedging or trading purposes. Where 
possible, the Group will apply natural hedging by selling and purchasing in the same currency. However, 
the exposure to foreign currency risk is monitored from time to time by management.

	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

			    USD 	  Euro 	  GBP 	  Total 
			    RM 	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 

Group
31.12.2014
Cash and bank balances	  680,988 	 – 	  –	  680,988 

Group
30.9.2013
Trade receivables	  	 480,003 	  –	  – 	  480,003 
Cash and bank balances	  1,436,904 	  137,192 	  90,732 	  1,664,828 
Trade payables		   (597,645)	  – 	  – 	  (597,645)

			    1,319,262 	  137,192 	  90,732 	  1,547,186 

Company
31.12.2014
Cash and bank balances	  103,549 	 –	  –	  103,549 

Company
30.9.2013
Cash and bank balances	  8,362 	  –	  –	  8,362 
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31.	 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

(c)	 Market risks (Cont’d)

(i)	 Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

	 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

	 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss before tax to a reasonably possible 
change in the USD, Euro and GBP exchange rates against RM, with all other variables held constant.

				     1.10.2013 to 		   1.10.2012 to  
				     31.12.2014 		   30.9.2013 
			    Change in  	  Effect on loss 	  Change in  	  Effect on loss 
			    currency rate 	  before taxation 	  currency rate 	  before taxation 
			    RM 	  RM 	  RM 	  RM 

Group				  
USD	  		  Strengthened 1% 	  6,810 	  Strengthened 1% 	  13,193 
	  		  Weakened 1% 	  (6,810)	  Weakened 1% 	  (13,193)
Euro			    Strengthened 1% 	 – 	  Strengthened 1% 	  1,372 
			    Weakened 1% 	 –	  Weakened 1% 	  (1,372)
GBP	  		  Strengthened 1% 	 – 	  Strengthened 1% 	  907 
			    Weakened 1% 	 –	  Weakened 1% 	  (907)
				  
Company				 
USD	  		  Strengthened 1% 	  1,035 	  Strengthened 1% 	  84 
			    Weakened 1% 	  (1,035)	  Weakened 1% 	  (84)

(ii)	 Interest rate risk

	 The Group’s and the Company’s fixed rate deposits placed with licensed banks and borrowings are 
exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in interest rates. The Group’s and the 
Company’s variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in cash flows due to changes 
in interest rates. 

	 The Group manages the interest rate risk of its deposits with licensed banks by placing them at the 
most competitive interest rates obtainable, which yield better returns than cash at bank and maintaining 
a prudent mix of short and long term deposits.

	 The Group manages its interest rate risk exposure from interest bearing borrowings by obtaining 
financing with the most favourable interest rates in the market. The Group constantly monitors its 
interest rate risk by reviewing its debts portfolio to ensure favourable rates are obtained. The Group 
does not utilise interest swap contracts or other derivative instruments for trading or speculative 
purposes. 
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31.	 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

(c)	 Market risks (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

	 The carrying amounts of the Group and of the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to 
interest rate risk are as follows:

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Fixed rate instruments				  
Financial liabilities	  	 (613,819)	  (1,000,000)	  (113,819)	 –

Floating rate instruments				  
Financial assets		   308,158 	  981,213 	 – 	 – 

	I nterest rate risk sensitivity analysis

	 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

	 The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period 
would not affect profit or loss.

	 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments

	 A change in 1% interest rate at the end of the reporting period would have increased/(decreased) the 
Group’s loss before taxation by RM3,082 (1.10.2012 to 30.9.2013: RM9,812), arising mainly as a 
result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings. This analysis assumes 
that all other variables remain constant. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate 
sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.

(d)	 Fair values of financial instruments

	 The carrying amounts of short term receivables and payables, cash and cash equivalents and short term 
borrowings approximate their fair value due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments 
and insignificant impact of discounting. 

	 The table below analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value for which fair value is disclosed, 
together with their carrying amounts shown in the statements of financial position. 
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31.	 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

(d)	 Fair values of financial instruments (Cont’d)

		  Fair value of financial instruments 
		  not carried at fair value
						C      arrying
			L   evel 1	L evel 2	L evel 3	 amount
			R   M	R M	R M	R M

Group and Company
31.12.2014
Financial liabilities
  (Non-current)
Finance lease liabilities		   – 	  75,530 	 –	  76,150 

Group
30.9.2013
Financial liabilities
  (Non-current)
Bank borrowings		   –	  500,000 	 –	  500,000 

(i) 	 Policy on transfer between levels

	 The fair value of an asset to be transferred between levels is determined as of the date of the event 
or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

	 There were no transfers between levels during current financial period and previous financial years.

(ii)	 Level 1 fair value 

	 Level 1 fair value is derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities.

(iii)	 Level 2 fair value

	 Level 2 fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

	 Non-derivative financial instruments

	 Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of 
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the 
reporting period. In respect of the liability component of RCPS, the market rate of interest is determined 
by reference to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option.

(iv)	 Level 3 fair value 

	 Level 3 fair values for the financial assets and liabilities are estimated using unobservable inputs.
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32.	C apital Management

	 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

	 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

	 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio. The Group’s policy is to maintain a prudent level of gearing ratio 
that complies with debt covenants. The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

The gearing ratios are as follows:

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

				  
Total loans and borrowings		   613,819 	  1,000,000 	  113,819 	 –
Less:	Cash and cash 				  
	 equivalents		   (2,178,816)	  (5,308,353)	  (624,274)	  (3,140,398)

Net debt 		   (1,564,997)	  (4,308,353)	  (510,455)	  (3,140,398)

Shareholders’ equity 		   4,924,112 	  16,948,322 	  13,615,437 	  18,013,358 

Debt-to-equity ratio		   * 	  * 	  ^ 	  #

*	 Gearing ratio not applicable to the Group as the cash and cash equivalents as at  31 December 2014 and 
30 September 2013 is sufficient to cover the entire borrowing obligation.

^	 Gearing ratio not applicable to the Company as the cash and cash equivalents as at  31 December 2014 
is sufficient to cover the entire borrowing obligation.

#	 Gearing ratio not applicable as the Company has no borrowings as at 30 September 2013.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial period.

33.	S ignificant Events 

(a)	 AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) (“AppAsia” or “the Company”)

(i)	 On 3 October 2013, Hong Leong Investment Bank Berhad, on behalf of the Company had announced 
the proposal to undertake a private placement (“Private Placement”) of new ordinary shares of RM0.10 
each which representing up to 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company to 
investor(s) to be identified and at an issue price at RM0.105 per Placement Share.

	 On 28 January 2014, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company increased to RM13,895,640 
comprising of 138,956,400 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each with the completion of the Private 
Placement.
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33.	S ignificant Events (Cont’d)

(a)	 AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) (“AppAsia” or “the Company”) (Cont’d)

(ii)	 On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, TA Securities Holdings Berhad (“TA Securities”) 
had on 11 September 2014 announced that the Company proposes to undertake the following:

(1) 	 proposed renounceable rights issue of up to 138,956,400 new ordinary shares of RM0.10 each 
in AppAsia (“AppAsia Shares” or “Shares”) (“Rights Shares”) together with up to 138,956,400 
free detachable warrants (“Warrants”) on the basis of one (1) Rights Share together with one (1) 
Warrant for every one (1) existing AppAsia Share held on an entitlement date to be determined 
later (“Proposed Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants”);

(2) 	 proposed establishment of a share issuance scheme of up to thirty percent (30%) of the issued 
and paid-up share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) at any one time 
during the duration of the scheme for the eligible Directors and employees of AppAsia and its 
subsidiary companies (excluding dormant subsidiary companies) (“Proposed SIS”).

	 Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (Bursa Securities”) has vide its letter dated 30 September 2014 
approved the following:

(1) 	 listing of and quotation for the Rights Shares;
(2) 	 admission to the Official List of ACE Market of Bursa Securites and the listing of and quotation 

for the Warrants; and
(3) 	 listing of and quotation for the new AppAsia Shares to be issued pursuant to the exercise of 

the Warrants, 

on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

	 The Proposed Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants and Proposed SIS was approved by the Company’s 
shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 15 November 2014.

	 On 19 November 2014, TA Securities, on behalf of the Company had announced the following that:

(1)	 the Board has fixed the issue price of the Rights Shares at RM0.10 per Rights Share and the 
exercise price of the Warrants of RM0.13 per Warrant; and

(2)	 the Entitlement Date has been fixed on 3 December 2014 and the other relevant dates pertaining 
to the Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants.

	 The Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants has been completed with the listing of 138,956,400 Rights 
Shares together with 138,956,400 Warrants on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities on 2 January 
2015.

	 Salient terms of Warrants

	 The Company executed a Deed Poll constituting the Warrant on the basis of one (1) warrant for 
every one (1) existing AppAsia Share on 19 November 2014. The issue price and exercise price of 
the Warrants is EM0.10 and RM0.13 each respectively.

	 The Warrants may be exercised at any time during the tenure of ten (10) years including and 
commencing from the issue date of Warrants. The rights attached to the Warrants which are not 
exercised during the exercise period will thereafter lapse and cease to be valid.

	 The new ordinary shares allotted and issued upon exercise of the Warrants shall rank pari passu in 
all respects with the then existing ordinary shares of the Company, except that such new shares shall 
not be entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments, and/or other distributions on or prior to the date 
of allotment of the new ordinary shares arising from exercise of the Warrants.
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34.	S ubsequent Events 

(a)	 AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) (“AppAsia” or “the Company”)

(iii)	 On 12 February 2015, the Company acquired two (2) ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in AppAsia 
Mall Sdn Bhd (“AppAsia Mall”) from Toh Hong Chye and Wong Ngai Peow at a total consideration 
of RM2 (“Acquisition”). Following the Acquisition, AppAsia Mall became a wholly-owned subsidiary 
company of the Company.

(iv)	 On 12 February 2015, the Company acquired two (2) ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in AppAsia 
International Sdn Bhd (“AppAsia International”) from Mr Toh Hong Chye and Mr Wong Ngai Peow at 
a total consideration of RM2 (“Acquisition”). Following the Acquisition, AppAsia International became 
a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company.

(v)	 On 13 March 2015, on behalf of the Board, TA Securities announced that the effective date for the 
implementation of the Proposed SIS is 13 March 2015, which is the date of full compliance of the 
SIS in accordance with Rule 6.44(1) of the Listing Requirements. 

	 The details of the Options offered are set out as follows:

Date of Offer of the Options
Exercise price of Options offered
Number of Options offered
Closing Market Price of the 
  Company’s shares on the Date of Offer 
Vesting period of the Options offered

: 	24 March 2105
: 	RM0.183
: 	70,000,000
: 	RM0.23

- 	Year 1 from the date of offer of the Options: 30% of 
SIS granted

- 	Year 2 from the date of offer of the Options: 30% of 
SIS granted

- 	Year 3-5 from the date of offer of the Options: 40% 
of SIS granted

- 	Any unexercised Options for the previous year may 
be carried forward and exercisable in the following 
year.  Last day to exercise the SIS Options is on 12 
March 2020.

(b)	 AppAsia Mall Sdn. Bhd. (“AppAsia Mall”)

	 On 16 February 2015, AppAsia Mall entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Tan Lonn Lian 
and Yong See Wei, for the acquisition of the entire business of Just Retro Enterprise, for a total purchase 
consideration of RM1,500,000.

	 The above acquisition had been completed on 16 February 2015.

35.	 Material Litigation

	 The Group and the Company have not engaged in any litigation which will have a material effect on the business 
or financial position of the Group and of the Company except for the following:

	 The Company announced that on 20 August 2014, a sealed copy of Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim dated 
19 August 2014 was served to Extol Ventures Sdn Bhd (“EVSB” or “the Defendant”), a wholly owned subsidiary, 
by Messrs Wong & Partners, the Advocates & Solicitors for Xconnect Global Networks Limited (“XConnect” or 
“the Plaintiff”). 

	 The Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim dated 19 August 2014 was filed to the Sessions Court at Kuala 
Lumpur in Wilayah Persekutuan with Kuala Lumpur Sessions Court Suit No: B52NCvC-246-08/2014 and have 
been fixed for hearing on 22 September 2014 at Jalan Duta Court Complex, Kuala Lumpur for case management.
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35.	 Material Litigation (Cont’d)

Details of claims by The Plaintiff from the Defendant are as follow:

(a)	 An order for the delivery up of the PoP Equipment as stated in the Statement of Claim and damage to be 
assessed;

(b)	 Alternatively, judgment in the sum of US$171,071.58 to be paid by Defendant;
(c)	 Damages for detention of the PoP Equipment as stated in the Statement of Claim;
(d)	 Alternatively, damages for conversion of the PoP Equipment as stated in the Statement of Claim;
(e)	 Interest on all sums found due and payable by the Defendant under Section 11 of the Civil Law Act, 1965 

at the rate of 5% per annum from 19.08.2014 until full payment;
(f)	 Costs; and
(g)	 Such further and other relief as the Court deems fit and proper.

	 On 15 September 2014, EVSB had filed a Defence and Counterclaim against Xconnect & Mohd Badaruddin Bin 
Masodi (“Badaruddin”). EVSB denies certain contents in the earlier Statement of Claim. Badaruddin had entered 
into the Malaysia Interconnection Exchange (“MIE Agreement”) for EVSB, on 3 October 2013 without any approval 
and/or ratification from the Board and/or shareholders of EVSB.

	 By the MIE Agreement, Xconnect had appointed EVSB as the exclusive Channel Partner for the delivery of Xconnect 
Global Networks Limited’s Products and Services to the customers in the territories of Malaysia and Indonesia.

	 Notwithstanding the terms of the MIE Agreement, Xconnect entered into an agreement with a third party, TG AGAS 
Technology Sdn Bhd (“TG AGAS”), on 4 October 2013 which is known as the Malaysian Federation Agreement 
(“MFA Agreement”) where all the provisions therein are identical to those found in the MIE Agreement.

	 Without the knowledge and/or the approval of the Board members and/or shareholders of EVSB, Badaruddin, 
as the Executive Deputy Chairman of TG AGAS, had on 4 October 2013 entered into the MFA Agreement with 
Xconnect.

	 EVSB avers that Xconnect had breached the MIE Agreement as the right of EVSB as the exclusive Channel 
Partner to supply Xconnect’s Products and Services in Malaysia was denied by Xconnect entering into the MFA 
Agreement with TG AGAS on 4 October 2013. EVSB avers that Xconnect has failed and/or refused to fulfil their 
obligations in the MIE Agreement. By reason of the matters aforesaid, EVSB denies being indebted to Xconnect 
as alleged in the Statement of Claim.

	 As such, EVSB claims that Xconnect through John Wilkinson and Badaruddin who is a director and shareholder 
of both EVSB and TG AGAS have acted to benefit TG AGAS and to cause EVSB to suffer financial loss.

	 EVSB avers that Badaruddin had breached his fiduciary duty under the Companies Act, 1965 where he shall at 
all times exercise his power for a proper purpose and in good faith in the best interest of EVSB.

	 Wherefore, EVSB counter claims against Xconnect and Badaruddin as follows:

Against Xconnect: 

(a)	 The sum of US$87,075.11;
(b)	 General Damages;
(c)	 Interest;
(d)	 Costs;
(e)	 Further or other relief as may be just.
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35.	 Material Litigation (Cont’d)

	 Wherefore, EVSB counter claims against Xconnect and Badaruddin as follows: (Cont’d)

Against Badaruddin: 

(a)	 If Xconnect succeeds in its claim against EVSB, an Order that Badaruddin do indemnify EVSB against all 
losses suffered and that he pay directly to Xconnect all of the judgement sum, including interest and costs, 
which EVSB is ordered to pay to Xconnect.

(b)	 The sum of US$87,075.11.
(c)	 General Damages.
(d)	 Exemplary Damages.
(e)	 Interest.
(f)	 Costs.
(g)	 Further or other relief as may be just.

	 The application for security costs has been fixed for hearing on 17 November 2014 pending filing of the Affidavit 
in Reply by the Plaintiff.

	 The Sessions Court had on 26 November 2014, granted the Company the Order directing Xconnect Global 
Networks Limited to deposit the sum of RM100,000.00 (Ringgit Malaysia One Hundred Thousand) only as security 
for costs with the Court within Thirty (30) days from 26 November 2014, failing which their claim can be struck 
out on the Company’s application.

	 Subsequently on 4 February 2015, the Board of Directors of AppAsia announced that the Company had on 29 
January 2015 received the Kuala Lumpur Sessions Court sealed Order and Judgement both dated 14 January 
2015 via a letter from Messrs Wong & Partners, the Plaintiff’s lawyer dated 28 January 2014, ordered Extol Ventures 
Sdn Bhd to handover the PoP Equipments to Xconnect with damages to be assessed and cost of RM3,000 to 
Xconnect. The Company has no intention to appeal after having taken legal advice from the Company’s solicitor. 
However, the Company shall be proceeding with its counter claim against Xconnect and Badaruddin.

	 The Company had on 10 April 2015 received a letter from the Company’s Solicitors informed that a consent order 
of settlement has been recorded on the 7 April 2015 where upon Xconnect had withdrawn all its claim against 
EVSB while the counter claim by EVSB against Xconnect had also been withdrawn, both with no order as to cost.

	 EVSB counter claim against Badaruddin is still on going with a hearing date fixed on  15 April 2015 to determine 
if the counter claim is to proceed to trial.

36.	C omparative Information

	 The financial statements of the Company as at 30 September 2013 were audited by another firm of chartered 
accountants.

	 The financial year end of the Group and of the Company was changed from 30 September to 31 December. 
Accordingly, the current financial statements are prepared for fifteen months from 1 October 2013 to 31 December 
2014. As a result the comparative figures stated in the statements of comprehensive income, statements of 
changes of equity and statements of cash flows and the related notes are not comparable. 

	 Certain comparative figures have been reclassified where necessary to conform with the current period presentation.
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36.	C omparative Information (Cont’d)

				A    s previously		
				    stated	R eclassification	A s restated
				R    M	R M	R M

Group
Statements of Cash Flows
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Change in working capital
Receivables			    (86,989)	  86,989 	  – 
Trade receivables			    – 	  224,853 	  224,853 
Other receivables			    – 	  (311,842)	  (311,842)
Payables			    (1,080,837)	  1,080,837 	  – 
Trade payables			    – 	  (875,662)	  (875,662)
Other payables			    – 	  (205,175)	  (205,175)

Statements of Cash Flows
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash used in operations
Interest received			    – 	  131,829 	  131,829 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received			    131,829 	  (131,829)	  – 

Company 
Statements of Cash Flows
Cash used in operations
Interest received			    – 	  88,706 	  88,706 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received			    88,706 	  (88,706)	  – 

37.	 Date of Authorisation for Issue

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial period ended 31 December 2014 
were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 10 April 2015.
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38.	S upplementary Information On Disclosure of Realised and Unrealised Profits or 
Losses

	 The following analysis of realised and unrealised (accumulated losses)/retained earnings of the Group and of 
the Company at the end of the reporting period is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad and prepared in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination 
of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

	 Group	C ompany
		  31.12.2014	 30.9.2013	 31.12.2014	 30.9.2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Total (accumulated losses)/retained
  earnings of the Company and
  its subsidiary company
  - Realised		   (11,985,378)	  1,133,083 	  (4,362,049)	  1,213,074 
  - Unrealised		  – 	  82,951 	 –	  –

			    (11,985,378)	  1,216,034 	  (4,362,049)	  1,213,074 
Less: Consolidation adjustments	  	 (1,067,996)	  (1,067,996)	 –	 –

Total (accumulated losses)/
  retained earnings		   (13,053,374)	  148,038 	  (4,362,049)	  1,213,074

	 The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits or losses above is solely for complying with the disclosure 
requirements stipulated in the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and should not be applied for any 
other purposes. 
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LIST OF 
PROPERTIES 

No. Title Details/ 
Postal Address

Description 
of property / 
Existing use

Land area 
/ Built-up 
area
sq m

Approximate 
age of 

building
(Years) 

Tenure Audited net 
book value as at 

31.12.2014
RM’000

1. Prima Square 13-1, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,282 19 years Freehold 250,800

2. Prima Square 13-2, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,487 19 years Freehold 165,000

3. Prima Square 13-3, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,480 19 years Freehold 165,000

4. Prima Square 13-4, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,480 19 years Freehold 165,000

5. Prima Square 13-5, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,487 19 years Freehold 165,000

6. Subang Business Centre 5-5, Jalan 
USJ 9/5Q, Subang Business Centre, 
47620 UEP Subang Jaya, Selangor 
Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,726 20 years Freehold 208,640

7. Subang Business Centre 7-5, Jalan 
USJ 9/5Q, Subang Business Centre, 
47620 UEP Subang Jaya, Selangor 
Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,726 20 years Freehold 208,640
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SHARE CAPITAL 

Authorised Share Capital 	 :	 RM100,000,000.00
Issued and Paid-up Capital 	 :	 RM27,791,280.00 comprising of 277,912,800 Ordinary Shares 
Class of Shares 	 :	 Ordinary Shares of RM0.10 each
Voting Rights 	 :	 One vote for each ordinary share held

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

		N  o. of	 % of	N o. of 	 % of 
Size of Holding		 shareholders	 shareholders	S hares	 shares

1 – 99		  10	 0.70	 369	 0.00
100 - 1,000		  221	 15.40	 72,550	 0.03
1,001 - 10,000		  290	 20.21	 2,089,481	 0.75
10,001 - 100,000		  677	 47.18	 29,637,400	 10.66
100,001 -  13,895,639* 		  235	 16.38	 178,280,800	 64.15
13,895,640 AND ABOVE **		  2	 0.14	 67,832,200	 24.41

Total 		  1,435	 100.00	 277,912,800	 100.00

Remark : 
*	 - Less than 5% of Issued Shares
**	 - 5% and above of Issued Shares

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (5% AND ABOVE) AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

No.	N ame of Substantial Shareholder	N o. of Shares held	N o. of Shares held
			   Direct	 %	I ndirect	 %

1	 Swift Icon Sdn Bhd 		  53,606,100	 19.30	 –	 –
2	 Ho Yi Jing 		  14,226,100	 5.12	 –	 –

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

No.	N ame of Director	N o. of Shares held	N o. of Shares held
			   Direct	 %	I ndirect	 %

1	 Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud 
	 Bin Mohammad Khalil		  –	 –	 –	 –
2	 Toh Hong Chye		  2,805,700	 1.01	 3,000,000*	 1.08*
3	 Wong Ngai Peow		  3,000	 0.001	 –	 –
4	 Dato’ Lai Wen Shian		  –	 –	 8,247,100**	 2.97**
5	 Low Kim Leng		  –	 –	 –	 –
6	 Tan Fie Jen		  824,700	 0.30	 –	 –
7	 Ng Kok Wah		  –	 –	 –	 –

*	 Deemed interested through Richmond Virginia Tobacco Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.
**	 Deemed interested through Crystal Privilege Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

ANALYSIS OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015 
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LIST OF TOP 30 LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNTS HOLDERS 
(ACCORDING TO THE REGISTER OF DEPOSITORS AS AT 31 MARCH 2015) 

No. Name of Shareholders
No. of 

Shares
%

1 SWIFT ICON SDN. BHD. 53,606,100 19.288

2 HO YI JING 14,226,100 5.118

3 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
OOI HOCK LAI

12,816,900 4.611

4 CRYSTAL PRIVILEGE SDN BHD 8,247,100 2.967

5 MANJUNG UNTUNG SDN. BHD. 8,247,100 2.967

6 LEONG LAI KUEN 6,927,500 2.492

7 CHAH KONG MIN @ CHOY SOI TUCK 5,000,000 1.799

8 KANG CHOO KIAT 4,329,600 1.557

9 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SUNRISE SETUP SDN BHD. (E-TM I)

4,123,500 1.483

10 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG POH CHEE (E-TMI)

4,000,000 1.439

11 HO CHAI KHAW 3,813,100 1.372

12 RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
GEMAS LESTARI SDN BHD

3,748,600 1.348

13 MAYBANK SECURITIES NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR VINCENT TAN SENG CHYE
DEALER038)

3,420,000 1.230

14 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR JEE TAI CHEW (021)

3,065,500 1.103

15 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR ANG HE YAM

3,000,000 1.079

16 RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
RICHMOND VIRGINIA TOBACCO SDN. BHD.

3,000,000 1.079

17 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
TOH HONG CHYE

2,805,700 1.009

18 ALICE LEE CHIA YEE 2,680,300 0.964

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
[continued]
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No. Name of Shareholders
No. of 

Shares
%

19 AFFIN HWANG NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LEOU THIAM LAI (M09)

2,268,600 0.816

20 REJOICE REALTY SDN. BHD. 2,100,000 2,100,000

21 NGEE PIK HAA 2,000,000 0.719

22 TEOH TEK SIONG 1,950,000 0.701

23 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN CHU CHIN (471507)

1,916,000 0.689

24 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR GOH BENG DE @ GHO BENG DE (CCTS)

1,850,000 0.665

25 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
TAN CHOON WAI (8058340)

1,809,800 0.651

26 YAP YUEN TECK 1,800,000 0.647

27 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN CHOON WAI (8028527)

1,790,000 0.644

28 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR 
SARAVANAN A/L RAGAVAN (E-TMI)

1,767,000 0.635

29 WONG POH CHEE 1,705,800 0.613

30 GAN PEI LING 1,700,000 0.611

Total 169,714,300 61.067

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
[continued]
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ANALYSIS OF WARRANTS HOLDINGS AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

Issued Size	 :	 138,956,400 free detachable warrants issued pursuant to the Renounceable Rights 
Issue with Warrants exercise

Number of Warrants Holders	 :	 466

DISTRIBUTION OF WARRANTS HOLDINGS AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

		N  o. of	 % of	N o. of 	 % of 
Size of Holding		 shareholders	 shareholders	 holdings	 shares

1 – 99		  0	 0.00	 0	 0.00
100 - 1,000		  18	 3.86	 11,800	 0.01
1,001 - 10,000		  75	 16.09	 528,100	 0.38
10,001 - 100,000		  243	 52.15	 11,411,000	 8.21
100,001 -   6,947,819* 		  128	 27.47	 92,073,300	 66.26
6,947,820 AND ABOVE **		  2	 0.43	 34,932,200	 25.14

Total 		  466	 100.00	 138,956,400	 100.00

Remark : 
*	 - Less than 5% of Issued Warrants 	
**	 - 5% and above of Issued Warrants 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN WARRANTS AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

No.	N ame of Director	N o. of Shares held	N o. of Shares held
			   Direct	 %	I ndirect	 %

1	 Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud 
	 Bin Mohammad Khalil		  –	 –	 –	 –
2	 Toh Hong Chye		  2,000,000	 1.44	 3,000,000*	 2.16*
3	 Wong Ngai Peow		  1,500	 0.001	 –	 –
4	 Dato’ Lai Wen Shian		  –	 –	 4,247,100**	 3.06**
5	 Low Kim Leng		  –	 –	 –	 –
6	 Tan Fie Jen		  424,700	 0.30	 –	 –
7	 Ng Kok Wah		  –	 –	 –	 –

* 	 Deemed interested through Richmond Virginia Tobacco Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.
**	 Deemed interested through Crystal Privilege Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

LIST OF TOP 30 LARGEST WARRANTS HOLDERS/ DEPOSITORS AS AT 31 MARCH 2015 

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
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(ACCORDING TO THE REGISTER OF DEPOSITORS AS AT 31 MARCH 2015) 

No. Name of Shareholders
No. of 

Shares
%

1 SWIFT ICON SDN. BHD. 27,606,100 19.866

2 HO YI JING 7,326,100 5.272

3 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD OOI HOCK LAI 6,551,900 4.715

4 OOI HAN EWE 4,975,800 3.580

5 CRYSTAL PRIVILEGE SDN BHD 4,247,100 3.056

6 MANJUNG UNTUNG SDN. BHD. 4,247,100 3.056

7 LEONG LAI KUEN 3,567,500 2.567

8 RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
RICHMOND VIRGINIA TOBACCO SDN. BHD.

3,000,000 2.158

9 CHAH KONG MIN @ CHOY SOI TUCK 2,400,000 1.727

10 KANG CHOO KIAT 2,229,600 1.604

11 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR JEE TAI CHEW (021)

2,210,700 1.590

12 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SUNRISE SETUP SDN.BHD. (E-TM I)

2,123,500 1.528

13 ANG SZE CHAMP 2,002,400 1.441

14 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG POH CHEE (E-TMI)

2,000,000 1.439

15 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
TOH HONG CHYE

2,000,000 1.439

16 RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
GEMAS LESTARI SDN BHD

1,938,600 1.395

17 HO CHAI KHAW 1,909,400 1.374

18 MAYBANK SECURITIES NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR VINCENT TAN SENG CHYE (DEALER038)

1,710,000 1.230

19 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR ANG HE YAM

1,500,000 1.079

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
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No. Name of Shareholders
No. of 

Shares
%

20 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR ONG TIONG ENG (CCTS)

1,435,300 1.032

21 ALICE LEE CHIA YEE 1,380,300 0.993

22 TEOH TEK SIONG 1,300,000 0.935

23 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR GOH BENG DE @ GHO BENG DE (CCTS)

1,275,000 0.917

24 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LAU LEE CHENG (J DEDAP-CL)

1,200,000 0.863

25 AFFIN HWANG NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LEOU THIAM LAI (M09)

1,168,600 0.840

26 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
LIM CHEE SEONG

1,050,800 0.756

27 AFFIN HWANG NOMINEES (ASING) SDN. BHD.
DBS VICKERS SECS (S) PTE LTD FOR NG KING KWEE

1,000,000 0.719

28 NGEE PIK HAA 1,000,000 0.719

29 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN CHU CHIN (471507)

958,000 0.689

30 WONG POH CHEE 952,900 0.685

Total 96,266,700 69.278
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Eleventh (11th) Annual General Meeting of AppAsia Berhad (Formerly known as 
Extol MSC Berhad) (“AppAsia” or “the Company”) will be held at The Ritz Carlton (Carlton Conference Centre), Cobalt 
9, 1st Floor, 168, Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur on Friday, 15 May 2015 at 11.00 a.m. for the purpose of transacting 
the following businesses:

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial period ended 31 
December 2014 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

Please refer to Note A

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM175,935.00 to non-executive 
directors of the Company for the financial period ended 31 December 2014.

Ordinary Resolution 1

3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 90 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association :-

i)	 Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil 
ii)	 Toh Hong Chye
iii)	 Wong Ngai Peow
iv)	 Dato’ Lai Wen Shian
v)	 Low Kim Leng
vi)	 Tan Fie Jen
vii)	 Ng Kok Wah

Ordinary Resolution 2
Ordinary Resolution 3
Ordinary Resolution 4
Ordinary Resolution 5
Ordinary Resolution 6
Ordinary Resolution 7
Ordinary Resolution 8

5. To re-appoint Messrs. UHY as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 9

SPECIAL BUSINESSES :-
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Resolution:-

6. Authority To Directors To Allot And Issue Shares

“THAT subject to the Companies Act, 1965, and the approval of the relevant 
government and/or regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are hereby 
empowered pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, to issue 
shares of the Company from time to time upon such terms and conditions and 
for such purposes and to such person or persons whomsoever as the Directors 
may deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to 
this resolution shall not exceed 10% of the issued capital of the Company for the 
time being, subject always to the approval of all the relevant regulatory bodies 
having been obtained for such allotment and issue, and such authority shall 
continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of 
the Company; and FURTHER THAT the Directors be and are hereby empowered 
to obtain the approval for the listing and quotation for the additional shares so 
issued on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).”

Ordinary Resolution 10

7. To transact any other business of the Company for which due notice shall have 
been given.

By order of the Board,

Tan Tong Lang (MAICSA 7045482)
Chong Voon Wah (MAICSA 7055003)
Company Secretaries

Kuala Lumpur 
23 April 2015 

NOTICE OF 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING



107 www.AppAsia.com ◄ Annual Report 2014

Notes

A.	 This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as Section 169 (1) of the Companies Act, 1965 and the Company’s 
Articles of Association provide that the audited financial statements are to be laid in the general meeting. Hence, 
it is not put forward for voting. 

1.	 Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central 
Depositories) Act, 1991 (“SICDA”), it may appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities 
account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.

2.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominees which holds ordinary shares in the Company 
for multiple beneficial owners in one (1) securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of 
proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

3.	 Where the authorised nominee appoints two (2) proxies, or where an exempt authorised nominee appoints two 
(2) or more proxies, the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each proxy must be specified in the 
instrument appointing the proxies.

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation, either under the corporation’s Seal or under the hand of 
an officer or an attorney duly authorised. 

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at Boardroom Corporate Services (KL) Sdn Bhd, Share 
Registrar office of the Company at Lot 6.05, Level 6, KPMG Tower, 8 First Avenue, Bandar Utama, 47800 Petaling 
Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia at least forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding the meeting, 
i.e. on or before 11.00 a.m., Wednesday, 13 May 2015 or at any adjournment thereof.

6.	 For the purpose of determining a member who shall entitle to attend this meeting, the Company shall be requesting 
Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd in accordance with Article 61(2) of the Company’s Articles of Association to 
issue a General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 8 May 2015. Only depositor whose name appears on the 
Record of Depositors as at 8 May 2015 shall be entitled to attend this meeting or appoint proxies to attend and/
or vote on his/her behalf.

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS

Ordinary Resolution 10: Authority To Directors To Allot And Issue Shares

The Ordinary Resolution 10, if passed, is a renewal General Mandate to empower the Directors to issue and allot shares 
up to an amount not exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being for such purposes 
as the Directors consider would be in the best interest of the Company. This authority, unless revoked or varied by the 
Company at a General Meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting.

The General Mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but not limited 
to further placing of shares, for the purpose of funding future investment project(s) workings capital and/or acquisitions 
at any time without convening a general meeting as it would be both costs and time consuming to organise a general 
meeting.

As at the date of this Notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the General Mandate granted 
to the Directors at the Tenth Annual General Meeting held on 28 March 2014 and which will lapse at the conclusion of 
the Eleventh Annual General Meeting.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
[continued]
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STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING 
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Directors who are standing for re-election at the Eleventh (11th) Annual General Meeting of the Company are:-

i)	 Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil 
ii)	 Toh Hong Chye
iii)	 Wong Ngai Peow
iv)	 Dato’ Lai Wen Shian
v)	 Low Kim Leng
vi)	 Tan Fie Jen
vii)	 Ng Kok Wah

Article 90
Article 90
Article 90
Article 90
Article 90
Article 90
Article 90

Ordinary Resolution 2
Ordinary Resolution 3
Ordinary Resolution 4
Ordinary Resolution 5
Ordinary Resolution 6
Ordinary Resolution 7
Ordinary Resolution 8

The profile of the above Directors are set out on Pages 7 to 10 of the Annual Report 2014. The details of the interest of 
the above Directors in the securities of the Company or its related corporations are disclosed in the Directors report on 
pages 31 to 32 of the aforesaid Annual Report.

The details of the Directors’ attendance for Board Meetings are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Statements on 
page 15 of the Annual Report 2014.

The Eleventh (11th) Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at The Ritz Carlton (Carlton Conference Centre), 
Cobalt 9, 1st Floor, 168, Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur on Friday, 15 May 2015 at 11.00 a.m.  



PROXY FORM

I/We,–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– NRIC No.––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
	 (Full name in capital letters)

of – –––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
	 (Full address)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

being a member(s) of APPASIA BERHAD (Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) (Company No. 643683-U) hereby appoint

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
	 (Full name in capital letters)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
	 (Full address)

or failing him,––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– o	f––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 11th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 
The Ritz Carlton (Carlton Conference Centre), Cobalt 9, 1st Floor, 168, Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur on Friday, 15 May 
2015 at 11.00 a.m. for/against* the resolution(s) to be proposed thereat. The proxy is to vote in the manner indicated below, 
with an “X” in the appropriate spaces. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at 
his/her discretion.

No. Agenda Resolution FOR AGAINST

1. Approve Payment of Directors Fee Ordinary Resolution 1

2. Re-election of Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin 
Mohammad Khalil as Director

Ordinary Resolution 2

3. Re-election of Toh Hong Chye as Director Ordinary Resolution 3

4. Re-election of Wong Ngai Peow as Director Ordinary Resolution 4

5. Re-election of Dato’ Lai Wen Shian as Director Ordinary Resolution 5

6. Re-election of Low Kim Leng as Directors Ordinary Resolution 6

7. Re-election of Tan Fie Jen as Directors Ordinary Resolution 7

8. Re-election of Ng Kok Wah as Directors Ordinary Resolution 8

9. Re-appointment of Auditors Ordinary Resolution 9

10. Authority to Directors to allot and issue shares Ordinary Resolution 10

Signed on this ______________ day of _________________ 2015.

Number of shares held:-

CDS account no.:-
___________________________________________

Signature of Shareholder or Common Seal

* 	 Strike out whichever is not desired.

Notes:-
A.	 This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as Section 169 (1) of the Companies Act, 1965 and the Company’s Articles of Association 

provide that the audited financial statements are to be laid in the general meeting. Hence, it is not put forward for voting. 
1. 	 A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead 

and that where a member appoints two (2) proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his holdings to be represented by each proxy. A 
proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provision of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not 
apply to the Company.

2.	 Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991 (“SICDA”), 
it may appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing 
to the credit of the said securities account.

3.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominees which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial 
owners in one (1) securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee 
may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

4.	 Where the authorised nominee appoints two (2) proxies, or where an exempt authorised nominee appoints two (2) or more proxies, the 
proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each proxy must be specified in the instrument appointing the proxies.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if 
the appointer is a corporation, either under the corporation’s Seal or under the hand of an officer or an attorney duly authorised. 

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at Boardroom Corporate Services (KL) Sdn Bhd, Share Registrar office of the 
Company at Lot 6.05, Level 6, KPMG Tower, 8 First Avenue, Bandar Utama, 47800 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia at 
least forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding the meeting, i.e. on or before 11.00 a.m., Wednesday, 13 May 2015 or at any 
adjournment thereof.

7.	 For the purpose of determining a member who shall entitle to attend this meeting, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia 
Depository Sdn Bhd in accordance with Article 61(2) of the Company’s Articles of Association to issue a General Meeting Record of 
Depositors as at 8 May 2015. Only depositor whose name appears on the Record of Depositors as at 8 May 2015 shall be entitled to 
attend this meeting or appoint proxies to attend and/or vote on his/her behalf.

APPASIA BERHAD (643683-U)
(Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

✄



Boardroom Corporate Services (KL) Sdn Bhd, 
Share Registrar of

APPASIA BERHAD (643683-U)
(Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad)
Lot 6.05, Level 6, KPMG Tower
8 First Avenue, Bandar Utama
47800 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
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